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THE AUTOBIOGRAPHY OF A COMMUNIST:

COMMUNISTS ARE MADE, NOT BORN
Editors’ Introduction 

The pages that follow outline the life experiences of Epifanio Camacho (EC), a worker and communist who has struggled throughout his long life against the inequalities and humiliations rained down on the international working class by the capitalist ruling classes. Like so many other workers, he fought the bosses even before he fully understood the nature of the class struggle. EC’s story begins with a description of his life as a child in rural Mexico and follows him through the fields and labor camps of the southwestern U.S. to his current home in central California—where he was instrumental, along with Cesar Chavez, in the formation of the United Farm Workers of America (UFWA). The collaboration of Cesar Chavez with the capitalists is not well known to the general public and is detailed here through descriptions of EC’s struggles against the treacherous betrayal of the farm workers’ struggles.

EC explains the struggles that led up to the famous farm-worker strikes in the 1960s and 1970s and his subsequent expulsion from the UFWA by Chavez for organizing farm workers for something much more profound and important than reforms. In the mid 1970s, Camacho joined the Progressive Labor Party (PLP) and has helped organize many workers into the ranks of international communism through his efforts as a party organizer. His experiences and reflections on organizing to build a revolutionary communist party to overthrow and destroy capitalism will help us advance toward that bright day when the working class will hold power throughout the world. 

Because we believe in collective activity and study, and that everyone’s contribution is important—even if some contributions are more so than others—it is very uncommon for PLP to feature by name one person’s contribution.  However, because EC’s life and political development are covered in these pages from an early to an advanced age, we feel that his life and thoughts, like that of many other communist fighters throughout history, should be studied for the strengths and weaknesses that will help all of us learn to push forward as a class: the international working class.

This autobiography was written over a number of years, major portions finished in 1992 with other sections added 10 years later. It has been used for many years in high school Spanish classes in California and in schools organized by PLP for workers and students. It is now being made available to the international working class. 

Apart from an occasional parenthetical remark by the editors (each time so indicated), the following is entirely in EC’s words, except that they have been translated from Spanish into English. There are two levels of lessons that EC draws: 1) those that refer to the particulars of his own immediate situation and experience, and 2) those that are more generalized to an historical and worldwide perspective. The latter paragraphs, even though they are also EC’s words, we have put in parentheses—for easier reference to these general lessons later.
PART I

My Early Life in Mexico

Introduction

I arrived in the U.S. as a worker some 38 years ago (mid-1950s), with the illusion of improving my living conditions. From this vantage point, remembering all of the pain and difficult struggle I have had to go through, the best I can do is write down these few words of my experience.

What I am writing is by no means an isolated case for me as a worker, since the same has happened in the lives of millions of workers. Rather it should be a warning sign on the road for any to come who may have the same illusions of tempting “fate” with the best intentions of reaching their goals.

There are many curves on life’s road, especially in the lives of those workers, men and women, who will not allow themselves or the rest of the working class to be treated as slaves, humiliated and exploited in the midst of wealth.

I hope that these memories will be useful to those who, preferring the road of working class organization and struggle against exploitation, do not go on the defensive and fall for the traps placed in the road by enemies of the working class. By this I mean the capitalist ruling class and their agents. Traps will be disguised in such a way that it will be difficult to know how to avoid them if leaders and workers are not prepared.

The camouflage, the disguise, comes at workers hidden as wolves in sheep’s clothing, individuals corrupted up to their eyeballs with ruling class ideology who have been placed inside the working class, in many cases appearing as workers’ leaders, but in essence serving the interests of the bosses.

Karl Marx said a century and a half ago that so long as workers do not learn to understand what interests hide behind every political, moral or religious phrase, they will remain constant victims of their enemies. Organization is the best weapon to fight for a decent life, but it is necessary to find leaders who are free of traitorous disguises; leaders who are honest, who have no political, economic or religious commitments with the ruling class. This is to say, leaders armed one hundred per cent with a revolutionary ideology, a communist ideology.

I hope that the following experiences will be useful to all those to whom with respect and affection I dedicate this, to all of the youth and working men and women of the world.

It is possible to live without money

I spent the first few years of my life in the highlands of the Fourth District of the State of Tamaulipas, Mexico. It was the beginning of the l920s. In the area where I grew up there were a number of small ranches, with several families on each ranch. All told there were somewhere around 150 inhabitants perhaps. It was actually more like one single, large family with close relationships among brothers, cousins, aunts and uncles, etc. Some of the ranches had names such as San Agustin (where I was born), Guadalupe, Santa Maria, among others. The villages that were the largest were Tula and Palmillas which took an entire day’s walk. Besides walking, people had mules and donkeys since the roads did not permit wagons, etc. People were as yet unfamiliar with other means of transport such as train and car. I myself did not see my first car until 1929, and I can still recall the fear it gave me when I saw it.

Clearly, the region was and still is dedicated to small agriculture. The peasants used very rudimentary tools to work their small plots of land. They grew basic crops such as corn, beans, garbanzo, etc, which made up the daily diet. There were also domestic animals raised for food like chickens, pigs, goats, and a few livestock to complement their diet.

I only spent my first few years here. In adolescence and afterwards I would only return to visit family and friends. Having lived in many places, I was better able to compare the lifestyle of the people here with that of those in other places.

In that region, you could say that to a certain extent people lived in a way that could be called communist. Of course, money existed, but it was not used the same way as in other places, with the exception of such things as paying State taxes and for religious services, etc. Neither the Church nor the State accepted anything as payment but cash, even when it could well have accepted some crops and taken it to those who didn’t have enough. But this is really something that can only exist under real communism. Under communism there will be no need for money. However, it was not the be all and end all in this region at that time. One didn’t have to work too hard in order to provide a home, clothes and food.

How is this so? Well in the first place, the peasants were the owners of the means of production. This “means of production” consisted of the earth itself, a pair of oxen (which themselves came from the cows on the land), a yoke and plow made of wood and other small things that they made themselves. When the crops were harvested they set aside enough as food to last to the next planting as well as enough seeds to plant again. The excess crop was exchanged among the people for whatever things they needed. In our house we had a dog that my older brother had given us in exchange for a chicken. When a hog was slaughtered, the meat was distributed among everyone so that no one went without. As such, meat came and went constantly from our homes.

My older brother, (the one with the chicken) was married and had no cows, but someone gave him a calf that grew up and produced more. My parents had no cows either but they got one in exchange for a sewing machine, and they named that cow “The Machine.” All of this was done voluntarily among the people, not by any mandate or decree of authority. It was done as a matter of principle, through their own way of thinking, through their very ideology of sharing, rather than competing.

People there were not accustomed to luxury nor having things in excess. The women made the clothes that their families needed. One of my married sisters (who is still alive) made her own blankets. And although this took time, no one was in any hurry. The kitchen utensils (plates, bowls, jars, etc.), also were made by the women. There were many things that they made using their own ingenuity and without depending on money to enrich some exploiting factory owner, buyer or seller.

If someone needed assistance with some work on their land, others would come to their aid, not to earn money but rather as a loan of days worked there to be repaid in the same days worked at their own land. There were no judges, police or jails. Any problems that arose among the people were resolved by taking the problems to others with more experience.

These people had the most precious thing in common: love and respect for each other. Children who lived close to their parents went daily to visit them. Siblings loved and respected each other very much. In general, siblings, in-laws, cousins and other relatives became “compadres” (akin to being godparents) and this made the respect among them even stronger. Among the youth there was not rude behavior, rough joking or insults. They had a concept of camaraderie and sharing that was very special.

At later times I was reminded of how far from this place I had traveled and how more “civilized” ideas had made inroads into my thinking. I returned at one point when I was perhaps 17 years old and the community was celebrating something, I forget now what it was for. In any case, there was a woman with a soda stand at a small table, selling drinks for five cents each. Two of my cousins invited me for a drink. One went and bought a soda and gave it to me. Without so much as a thought I downed the entire soda in almost a single gulp. My two cousins were left with nothing to do but stare at me in surprise and shock. Their attitude caught my attention and in a fraction of a second I realized everything. I was very embarrassed although I tried to hide it. I asked the woman at the soda stand for two sodas and gave one to each of my cousins. What happened was that they were accustomed to sharing everything. So the one soda had been intended for the three of us to share together. To get out of that embarrassing gaffe, it cost me a soda for each one.

Dona Juana Zapata was a midwife. Each child that she brought into the world was also taught to call her Mama as well and to be respectful of her. She felt very proud to have so many children all around her. Dona Juana did not charge for her work. Nevertheless she never went without. Dona Juana was also my Mama, since she helped my mother birth me.

Traditional celebrations were on Christmas and New Year. People also celebrated this or that saint, weddings and others occasions. National holidays were never celebrated, nor were the death or birthday of any hero or politician. I don’t believe that people knew much about politics.

At celebrations and weddings there was never a lack of musicians to light up the party with their

tunes and verses. Don Lucino was one such musician. He sang songs of the time such as Las

Barandales del Puente, La Virgencita, Pajarillo Barranqueno, Cielito Lindo and others. Don

Lucino, the musician, was my father.

Whenever someone’s wedding was approaching, everyone pitched in to help the future groom construct his house. The houses there were cabins.

On the day of a wedding, women would volunteer to help cook since there was a lot of food to be prepared. Since weddings took place on weekends, animals for the feast were slaughtered on Fridays. Weddings took place on Saturdays and sometimes continued on into Sunday. All those who wished to marry, especially men, had to be a minimum of 25 years of age, otherwise the parents would not authorize the wedding in consideration of the fact that the couple was not yet sufficiently mature to run a household.

Mala racha (A run of bad luck)

We lived in this area until 1929. There were seven of us: my father, my mother, a 16-year-old sister and four younger children 15, 8, 6 and 4 years of age. Since there was no school, my parents decided that we would go live in the state capitol, Victoria. They wanted us to attend school.

Things began to turn bad when the oldest of the boys went to visit some relatives in a village on the edge of the Purificacion River. Several of my brothers’ friends invited him to go swimming with them. They weren’t aware that the river was rising quickly. My brother was unprepared for the strength of the current and was drowned there.

Shortly thereafter, my mother became ill. She said that she really missed the family back in the highlands where we had come from and she could not get used to living in the city where everything had to be purchased and the customs were so strange. She grew worse daily but we had no money for doctors to treat her. She asked my father to take her back to “our land”, she said. My father sacrificed a great deal to take us back but she died soon afterward. With the death of my mother, our family practically began to disintegrate and the education that she wanted for her children became impossible.

After my mother’s death, my father sent me to live with my married brother in San Lorenzo. This was a village of about forty inhabitants, slightly removed from the place where we had lived before but with the same customs. I had completed the second grade before my mother died. As such, although I wrote badly, I was able to write letters to the people of the area. At that time as far as I can recall, no one could read and write. My ability in this made me feel good and even “important” because I was able to provide some small help to the people.

The mill
While I lived with my brother in San Lorenzo, the time came to mill the sugar cane to make piloncillo, a brown sugar. The sugar mill was operated by hooking a pair of mules to a long lever connected to the grinding pillar in the center that crushed the sugar cane. The mules walked around and around in a circle pulling the long lever. This was all installed underneath some giant leafy trees at the edge of a good sized stream.

There were some twenty men working at the mill including some young boys as well. I worked there too. My work consisted of driving the mules around in a circle for a couple of hours, until the container filled up with sugar cane syrup that was then processed under a wood fire. The other boys did work according to their abilities and ages. I felt proud and content because I was also participating along with the grown men in the production of something that I really liked: syrup, molasses, and the paste of concentrated molasses which became piloncillo (unrefined sugar loaf) through another process. All of the cane that was ground was the property of the peasants of the area. And all of the work, from planting the cane to processing it into piloncillo was done collectively. Anyone could go to the mill and eat whatever they wanted without paying a cent.

In the evenings, those who had finished their work stayed around sometimes enjoying themselves talking and smoking cigarettes made of corn leaves. They sang songs accompanied by guitar and inspired by a few drinks of liquor, though they did not drink too much. It all happened around a bonfire and at the edge of the stream.

The wives of the peasants came to the mill with baskets of food for all. Young women came too, and they were all lovely, some even more than others. This was really living for me. The only thing lacking was a school where we children could learn to read and write.

The ugly face of capitalism

Awhile after I had been living in San Lorenzo, something totally unexpected occurred:

politicians arrived in the area to work on a political campaign that I understood nothing of. These politicians in short order created such a division between the inhabitants of San Lorenzo and another village of peasants named Las Bayas that it ended in a massacre. Even the politicians themselves were killed in the fracas.

People said that the devil “had begun to run loose” and started to find other places to live. My brother also left. I ended up going to live with a brother-in-law to the north of Victoria, the capitol of the state, on the El Carmen plantation, property of a capitalist landlord named Francisco Benitez.

In recent years I have visited these places, but nothing now remains of that lifestyle except some good moral customs. Politicians, merchants and religious guides, who arrived continually, were really thieves who came with their ruling class culture and robbed the people.  They caused such poverty that many people have left or have become aspirants to “the American dream” with all of the consequences of that path.

What I have written here is simply what I recall of that time and just my personal experiences. It is impossible for me to remember all of the details that made up that type of life. It is not that I long for that time. However, I like remembering it and writing what I can as evidence that people can be happy without the use of money. This lifestyle can be applied in reality, but at a higher level and in accordance with current circumstances. Money, being a tool of capitalism, creates individualism, social inequality and exploitation and corrupts good customs.

We need a total social change in which we can live as communists and not as salaried and exploited workers. We can live as dignified and free people, dedicated to work for the good of an egalitarian society.

Life that was not life

During the decade of the thirties the cry of “Long live the revolution!” was heard throughout Mexico. But these were not the cries of workers in the factories, nor the fields, nor the laborers of the cities. Rather they were the cries of politicians’ campaign speeches, of new generals, new landlords, those who had come out of the 1910 revolution having benefited financially or in terms of power. It was not a revolution meant to end poverty, although that had been its stated purpose at the outset. Ultimately, it only served the national bourgeoisie and its growth as a class, adding many new rich.

For our family there was only more poverty and sickness. My mother died leaving us three children without her. My father under these circumstances could not give us adequate attention and the family disintegrated for all practical purposes. The youngest of my sisters, she may have been six years old, was placed by my father with a good family. My father loaned my older sister to another family. I missed my sisters a great deal and decided one day to go in search of the older. I found her, but she had been badly beaten about the face and body; blows dealt by the young son of the family where she stayed. He enjoyed hitting her and was not reproached for doing so. I told my father and went for her. Afterward she was sent to live with another of our sisters who was married and living with her husband in a small village on the El Carmen estate, in the State of Tamaulipas, about a kilometer and a half away. Ultimately, I also ended up living there with my sister Josefina and Severo, her husband.

On the surface all appeared happy but my sisters and I were far from content. I am sure that my father was also unhappy, though all of us had been happy until the day that my mother died. Were we poor? We certainly were. But we had our parents and that was happiness for us. My father, (who died years later) had his partner for life and his family, and that for him was happiness. But now we were alone. Life was disastrous for my sister and me living with our married sister. In spite of her young age, my little sister was obliged to do all of the housework and I had to work as though I were an adult. The youngest of all of us, living with another family, wasn’t any better off

My older sister and Severo (my brother-in-law) were very poor and had many young children. In addition to being dirt poor, they argued constantly. My big sister was extremely jealous and spent her days whining and throwing fits for every little thing. My brother-in-law took out his frustrations on me and treated me worse than the dog.

Severo didn’t know how to read or write and had the character of a demon, but he enjoyed politics. He was very idealistic, always aiming for goals outside his reach. He dreamed of having a house like the big boss, etc. When happy he was always singing and whistling “The Internationale” (the worker’s hymn), though I have no idea where he learned it. He liked communism but from what I recall his saying, I now realize that he didn’t know very much about the theory. He treated my sister very well and it was obvious that he loved her a great deal. He used to tell me to get to know a lot of girls before getting married and other such things. But, shit! When he was in a bad mood or when his wife was annoying him with her stupid jealous fits, he lashed out at everything: his wife, the dogs, the chickens, the pigs, etc. I-Ic was very rough talking and anti-church; he swore a blue streak at priests. And he didn’t let me off easily either. He had little to no understanding of the limitations of a young boy for work. He was capable of working us to death without thinking twice about it.

Insofar as he was a servant on the hacienda, and I was living with him, he tied me to the wagon of exploitation as well.

The hacienda El Carmen, property of engineer Francisco Benitez, covered an area containing 26 enormous lots set aside for cultivation. There was also a large amount of land covered in brush. Benitez also had a huge reservoir of water one kilometer square that he used for irrigation of all his land.

The revolution passed his properties by without changing a thing. By 1933, the date that I came to be at this ranch, the revolution had been over for more than ten years. Nevertheless the ranch was at its peak. Besides his estates he also owned many cattle such as milk cows, as well as all types of animals for meat and beasts of burden. He had hundreds and hundreds of peons/slaves. All who lived in the area had to work for this boss as there were no others. This boss owned the only great orange groves in the region. And to protect his properties he had at his disposition a platoon of National Army soldiers. He could sing out “Long live the revolution!” He had a country. The peons of the ranch had nothing.

According to historic data, previous to the revolution there were in Mexico over 56,000 villages surrounded by private property. Cerrito Viejo, the village where we lived, was situated exactly on the private property of Benitez, the boss of the ranch. Being on his property, we were obligated to work for him. I say “we were obligated” because in spite of the fact that I was only 12 years old, he was also my boss. I started work weeding the corn fields with a hoe. We got a salary (if you can call it that) of sixty cents per work shift for adults and thirty cents for minors. Even though I was a minor and receiving only half pay, I was still held to the same standard of work as the adults. We weren’t paid with money, but rather with chits, something like a check, for the value of the number of days worked. The chit was valid only in the enormous store owned by Benitez (La Tienda de Raya.) My chit from an entire week of work was worth $1.80 and I was allowed 15 cents of it, with which I bought two pieces of bread and a squash candy, the remainder going to my brother-in-law. So, I was the slave of a slave. The workday had no fixed hours. The foreman had no watch. His yell was the quitting bell.

The struggle against Santo
At the time that our labors began to bring fruit in the form of sweet corn, young squash, etc., the boss arranged to have a guard at the main gate whom we called Santo (Little Saint). Santo was an old man with an arm cut off at the elbow. He always carried a curved machete in his remaining hand. He was called Santo because he called everyone else Little Santo.

His work was to search us high and low as we left, to ensure that we weren’t carrying something to eat hidden in our clothes or lunch bags. The workers cursed Santo when he searched them. I always felt that Santo pulled the hair on the back of my neck when he searched me.

I thought Santo was a miserable old man who refused to let anyone take even the smallest thing to eat. I saw him as the person responsible for the misery and want in our household and I harbored a hatred for him. But in truth, I judged that man wrong. Santo was just one more victim at the service of the boss, the same boss we all served. We were all slaves. Santo was a humble man, and he treated everyone respectfully calling us Little Santos. He didn’t use rough language toward anyone. He simply did the only work possible given his physical condition. What would he survive on if he didn’t do that job? I am equally certain that the pay he received was much less than what the other peons received. However, because I could not see the forces at work beyond Santo, I blamed him for the terrible conditions in our homes because he wouldn’t let us take anything to eat. Having the fruit of my and everyone else’s labor within our reach, to be able to see but not taste it, was martyrdom for us. I didn’t see that Santo merely symbolized the true essence of work conditions that held forth on that ranch in particular, but poor Santo wasn’t the cause of any of it.

“But damn, Santo!” I said. “One way or another, we’re going to eat squash and sweet corn in the house. You’ll see.”

My brother-in-law had bought a mule for $3.00, he told me. I don’t know where he got $3.00 since with so many people in the family there was never anything left over. Anyway we had a mule that I considered mine since I was the only one to ride it. It was a tough little mule, a very hard worker that never refused to go where I guided it. All I had to do was get on, pull its mane and it would run. It was a good friend. I really loved my little mule. That mule was central to my plan against Santo.

When anyone wanted to enter the planted fields to cut some grass, Santo permitted it so long as the person consented to an inspection afterward. Now I also wanted to cut some fresh grass for my mule and Santo let me through. Once inside these enormous corn fields I began cutting fresh grass and bundling it, placing it on top of the saddle seat in front of me. I searched out some young squash and half a dozen sweet corn and I put it all inside the grass. Then I tied it up tightly, got on my mule, lifted the bundle and was on my way. Damned Santo was there when I got to the gate. He ordered me to get down and be searched. I pulled the reins on the mule to stop it but at the same time pulled the mule’s mane without Santo noticing what I was doing. Logically, since Santo was in front of the mule when I pulled its mane, it jumped forward and tried to bite him. I faked an attempt to stop the mule and spoke to it “Whoa, whoa, whoa.” But at the same time, I pulled its mane even more. I passed by at nearly a full gallop. Santo just stood there startled and impressed, maybe trying to figure out why the mule had tried to bite him?

Very well. Now we had something to eat in the house. We had corn soup with young squash and spices. How delicious that was! I’m quite sure that my brother-in-law did not agree with what I had done but he pretended not to know about it. Besides it was preferable to say nothing so long as there was a little something to eat in the house.

I let a few days pass and then tried the same thing again. It was so easy! What’s more, my mule was getting the hang of what it was supposed to do when Santo was nearby.

Several days later, I tried again. But after the third time my brother-in-law said to me: “That son of a bitch Santo complained to old Macario Puente (the senior overseer) and told him what you’re doing. It would be better for you not to do this.” But then quietly, as though not wanting to be involved, he said, “Just figure out another way of doing it, but be careful, eh! They can screw me for what you’re doing.” He meant that they could punish him with a week without work for my actions. That is what they gave to those who tried to get something to eat. However, in my case the complaint was simply that I wasn’t letting Santo search me, not that I was stealing any food. So it was no big deal! So I thought.

A few days later, I was back at it. Why the hell not! I asked Santo for permission to go in and get food for the mule. I went through a corn field where there was a wire fence that separated the planted field with another that was full of long grass. I found some squash and sweet corn and placed them in a bag I brought with me. This time I didn’t have to take grass out because it wouldn’t be necessary. I raised the first strand of bottom wire on the fence and the support of the second so there would be more space underneath. I moved the mule next to the fence; I grabbed his front leg and speaking to him softly and petting him, he pulled in a backward direction. This way my little mule started getting stuck little by little until he looked as though he were laid out dead. Then I started pulling him by his front legs, then the rear ones, stretching him out underneath the wire until he was on the other side. Afterward, we ran to the other fence and did the same thing. The mule learned how to do it pretty quickly. Everything worked out well.

I don’t recall how many times I did this but not too many. My brother-in-law told me that Santo had complained again to old Macario, who had in turn called it to my brother-in-law’s attention. The complaint was that Santo saw me go in but never saw me leave. When my brother-in-law asked me how I was managing this, I explained it to him and he nearly died laughing.

Now it was a matter of waiting for the time to harvest all the corn; after which the corn and squash would be all hard.

After about a year living with my sister and her husband, I began to attend school. They decided to put me in third grade, as my mother had taken me through the second grade before she died. The little school was an adobe building that had been there I don’t know how many centuries. It had a tin roof that leaked a great deal. There was no yard at all and no potable water. The teacher, Rosalia Solis (my respects to her), was a teacher of a caliber of which I think there are very few. She taught four groups of students; first, second, third and fourth grades. They were small groups, but it was still a lot of work for her. She lived on the ranch. Her father was the ranch blacksmith and ran the mill where the nixtamal (corn grains cooked with lime) was ground up for the housewives. He started work at three in the morning.

Around this time, Lazaro Cardenas became president of Mexico with a so called socialist platform. The teacher clearly liked that political line. Our favorite songs to sing in class were “Red Flag,” “Round Red Sun,” “La Pajarera” and others whose names I don’t recall. She also organized parties with dancing, recitations, comedy, etc, all having to do with socialist politics, and she still had energy left over to give adult classes in the evenings. For our studies, the third graders had a primer called River of Flowers. The book dealt with how the peasants should organize themselves to expropriate the land of rich owners and form cooperatives.

On days when classes were held, the teacher stayed the night with a family near the school instead of returning to the ranch. She arranged with my sister for me to take her lunch every day for $3.00 a month and I got to eat lunch there as well. No one else could do this task as well as I could, thanks to my flesh and bone bicycle (my little mule.) So 15 minutes before leaving for lunch she sent me to get her lunch. I lived a block from the school so I would rush toward the ranch. I got to her house and ate and was on my way back. My mule got so much exercise that it could compete in the Olympics (we ran three kilometers a day).

When I finished third grade my schooling was complete. I told my brother-in-law that I wanted to continue studying and he promised that the following year he would send me to study in the city. But he never did.

My sister didn’t care for grinding nixtamal to make tortillas. On one of her pre-dawn trips to buy nixtamal from the mill at the hacienda, she came up with a devilish plan--and it only took one time for her to get used to it. It became a custom for her and an obligation for me to wake up at three in the morning while in the deepest sleep, get my mule, and go to the mill. My sister started telling her friends who also liked the idea (lazy old women) so I got to bring masa (corn dough) from the mill to them as well. Now I was delivering masa for the house and for the neighbors also. Since I couldn’t manage so many bundles of masa, the ladies started sending their kids to go with me. We were a group of five or six boys and girls. My mule started to buckle from the weight of so much masa. One morning when we were almost to the mill, the mule suddenly went head over heels and we fell along with it. All of the nixtamal went falling along with it. Since it was so dark the mule hadn’t seen a piece of barbed wire in the path and had gotten its legs tangled, which caused it to fall. We gathered up all the nixtamal that we could along with a little dirt and some stones. When Felipe, the mill worker, was grinding our corn he began to scream, “What the hell did you put in with the nixtamal that’s making the mill sound like that?” But we pretended not to hear him and just looked at one another. That day we all ended up in debt to the mill. The eggs that we used as money had all broken in the fall.

The days went by and the corn was ready to be laid down. The overseer assigned areas by lengths of his horses’ steps. Forty double steps of the horse long by fifty meters wide was one assignment. For this job the boss had raised the pay to sixty cents per assignment. And now he was paying in cash. The chits had been discontinued.

Laying down the corn consisted of cutting the stubble, piling it in sheaves of a certain length each one, and carrying the piles off by shoulder. An assignment beginning at six in the morning or earlier could be completed by two in the afternoon, working as quickly as possible. So for me, at the most thirteen years-old, an assignment was too much work. Nevertheless, if my brother-in-law ordered me to do it, there was nothing I could do about it. That’s how it went.
At the outset, my brother-in-law told me, “It would be good for you to put your hand to the work to see if you can at least do half an assignment.” The next day I started very early in the morning and gave it my all. Later, other peons arrived and got started on their assignments. But they were very experienced in their work and it didn’t take long for them to overtake me. They finished and left and I was still there working another hour or so, but I completed the assignment, more out of a sense of personal pride than anything else. Once I got to the house, my brother-in-law asked me if I had done half an assignment. When I told him that I had done an entire assignment he was pleased and said: “Great! Tomorrow you can do another.” 
But I alone knew how exhausted I was. I don’t recall if or what I might have eaten all day because I didn’t have breakfast and hadn’t taken any lunch. The next day I started before anyone else, and I nearly finished along with the others. Then I came up with the brilliant idea that would help me finish quickly. The following day, I arrived before anyone else. The first thing I did was change the assignment markers that were on either side of my own. I mean, I moved mine inward. This way my assignment got smaller than the other two on either side of me. The other workers were very curious to know how I had finished before them. I pulled that trick every day, I think, for the rest of the season. It worked too until Gregorio Lopez (another peon) discovered my trick. He went to see his friend, my brother-in-law, and said: “Hey bastard! You’re boy is even slicker than you! We figured out how he’s been finishing faster than us.” And he told him everything. I didn’t do that any more. But it didn’t matter at that point. I had gotten so practiced in the work that I didn’t need to use any tricks.

Afterward came the harvest. This was another job that was paid by the quantity of sacks of corn harvested; twenty five cents per two sacks.

My brother-in-law sent me to harvest corn. “Give it your all. Don’t go in half assed,” he said to me. “And see if you can’t sneak out a few pieces of corn for tortillas.” Damn if that wasn’t some hard work! Because Santo already knew what I’d do. But where there’s a will there’s a way, and I loved to pull the wool over his eyes.

To the measure that the peons advanced in the harvesting of the corn and clearing of the remaining stubble they were allowed to go through the remainder and take away any corn that may have been left on the ground. One merely had to ask Santo’s permission. Well, this was not so difficult. While I had been working I purposely left several dozen pieces of corn behind in the stubble.

About three days later, in the afternoon, I asked Santo’s permission to go in and look for any corn that might have been left. “Okay little Santo, go on in over there and see what you find,” he told me. Well, that was where I had wanted to go. I took a little while so Santo wouldn’t suspect anything. Soon I returned with the corn that I had hidden all bundled up in a sack. “How did it go, little Santo? Did you find anything?” he asked me. “I found this,” I told him. “Well done little Santo, well done.” There was nothing else he could say. It was all “legal.” I did this a number of times to ensure that we had some corn in the house for tortillas.

My brother-in-law asked me every day how many sacks of corn I had picked, because the total number varied: sometimes eight, other times nine sacks, etc. But he was never satisfied. He always pressed me to pick more.

One day, Mr. Bonifacio Castillo asked me how much money Severo gave me each week and how many sacks I picked each day. When I told him that I was only given fifteen cents a week, he told me: “Look don’t be a fool. When you pick eight sacks tell him that you picked seven and when you pick nine tell him that you picked eight and that way you can keep a little extra for yourself.” Really! I thought. How had that not occurred to me before? The very next day I began to give skewed accounts to my brother-in-law. But he scolded me bitterly. He said that I was only goofing off and not putting my heart into the work. Nevertheless, I got to keep an extra sixty cents a week. Damn! I had never had so much money in my hands. Now I had the problem of how and on what to spend the extra money so that my brother-in-law wouldn’t figure out what I was doing. I could only buy sweets but I didn’t have anywhere to get them. On the other hand, I was scared and ashamed to do it and it made me feel bad. I only skewed my results for a couple of weeks and then stopped. It was better that way.

With respect to the money: perhaps if I had had somewhere to spend the extra pennies the trick would have been a little more fun. Maybe then, in spite of the fear and shame, I might have continued cheating and even made it a habit. That’s how money begins to get into the heads of youngsters and corrupts them, with all of the consequences that it brings. This is what capitalism creates with its money. Although the money that I kept through my cheating was money that I had earned through my own labor, this was not the way to deal with things. However, cheating is exactly what the boss did to us. All problems that workers have are related to capitalism.

Workers are always in contradiction with capitalism because they are exploited by it, and they always seek a way to get the yoke off their necks. Sadly they rarely choose the correct path to do this and end up in the hands of inadequate and corrupt theories, such as unions, political campaigns for elections, pseudo-leftist organizations, forming cooperatives and even bourgeois revolutions, or acting individually, etc. That was the case in my struggle with Santo. My brother-in-law Severo hated bosses and priests. He said that both were the same thing. That the bosses with their exploitation and repression and the priests with their lies kept the workers stupid and manageable. I hated Santo because he refused to let me take food that I had grown home to our hungry family. I blamed him because in our house there wasn’t enough food. But that poor bastard wasn’t to blame for anything. He was more screwed than we were. And it wasn’t just me who hated Santo; many others hated him as well. Several times people burned the small grass hut that he improvised wherever he was sent. My brother-in-law didn’t agree with what I was doing but he didn’t stop me because it was through my tricks that we had a little more to eat. He saw it as one way to take back from the boss a little of what we produced. Nevertheless this wasn’t the correct way to resolve the needs in the family. Actually, it was more a symbol of the hatred that workers feel for the ruling class, a hatred they are constantly seeking ways to express. The correct way of struggle against ruling class exploitation is the organization of the entire working class under revolutionary communist Marxist Leninist leadership that will lead to political power and the establishment of communism. 

Cooperatives without political power
Later I discovered that for some time there had been a group of peasants from Cerrito Viejo who had organized themselves very discretely. They were planning to expropriate land from the ranch and form a cooperative with the assistance of the government. However the government simply dragged the matter out without end and nothing was achieved.

Now I understood why my brother-in-law left me to do so much of his work at the ranch. What happened was that in spite of the fact that he couldn’t read, he was the group leader and spent his time carrying out the tasks of the organization. Meanwhile it was I that was putting my shoulder into the work.

The years went by and for me everything was shit. There were no clothes or anything. I only had my brother-in-law’s old clothes, his hat and even old sandals, etc. They didn’t buy me anything. I was ashamed to put on those old clothes, which were not just old and ripped but also very large for me. I was thirteen and I wanted to wear the same clothes that other boys my age were wearing. These boys were given their parents’ permission to use their wages to buy clothes for themselves. But I could not get permission.

The year 1937 arrived and the government of Lazaro Cardenas finally expropriated part of the ranch and distributed it among the peons who had been seeking it. On the day they received the land they all got drunk. At last poverty had ended they thought. But it didn’t end.

Now they had land. But they couldn’t eat land. They required the means of production to make the land produce and the means of production belonged to the boss. The government gave the boss the right to take from the land everything he owned before it was turned over: livestock, tractors, planting tools and beasts of burden such as oxen and mules—in other words all the means of production. The peasants through much sacrifice had to look elsewhere to obtain farm animals to work the lands. The government’s actions were worthless. The means of production should have been expropriated at the same time as the land. Everything the boss possessed had been gotten from the exploitation of the peasants and it all belonged to them, not him.

There were some changes, but nothing important. The coop members and owners of the land were not able to produce what they hoped for due to lack of the means of production.

Later the Cooperative Bank lent them money to work the land at interest and in exchange for the harvest and at the price set by the bank. The bankers were the same owners from whom the government had expropriated the land, including our boss. In this manner, the harvest continued to belong to the bosses and at the prices that they set. How about that!

And what about me? Well, for me the stinking situation continued the same or worse. Now I worked the land for the new boss (my brother-in-law). And not just by day but by night as well, when he tried to irrigate the land. Now it was sunup to sunup. This shit seemed to never end.

After my mother died I cried secretly every day because I didn’t want anyone to see me. My brother-in-law scolded me whenever he saw me with teary eyes. “Are you crying again, you little ass?” he would say. I felt alone and vulnerable when I missed my mother the most, and I looked for a place to hide and cry. When an orphan child cries, it’s not because he wants toys. The child cries because he has no mother to look after him, to protect him; to give him a blanket when he gets cold or feed him when he’s hungry, even if that might mean she won’t eat. For a child that knew his mother and knew what she meant for him, nothing else can take her place.

In this world there are millions of children who don’t eat and who die. They die because someone else has their food. Poverty is not natural; poverty is the product of looting and exploitation carried out by the owners of the world against the disorganized and defenseless working masses. The entire working class should rise up against these looters and exploiters. We should rise up against war makers who dedicate their lives to possessing the world, even at the cost of leaving children to die without food. Rise up against these parasites with a working class revolution for communism—to take political power, their riches, land and all means of production from them. So that the workers become the owners of all they produce and there are no families or children who are hungry.

And now, what was going to happen next? How much longer would I be able to live as a slave? Would I rebel against my brother-in-law? Would I just leave for parts unknown? How many adventures awaited me?

My life takes a turn for the better
Time passed. I was fourteen years-old. I continued working my brother-in-law’s land. On days when there was nothing I could do on his land, my brother-in-law sent me to work the boss’s land. Now I knew how to do other jobs such as plow the land with a team of oxen, cultivate corn, irrigate fields, load crops onto wagons, etc., etc. But I was still suffering for lack of shoes and clothes, as I was still using my brother-in-law’s hand-me-downs. I had nowhere to sleep. My bed was the wagon in the pasture. If I was cold I covered up with a few sacks, which was all there was. This form of living had become unbearable and even more so when I saw that youngsters my age were treated very differently by their parents than the treatment I was receiving.

When I turned sixteen, an older friend offered to loan me three hectares (about 7.5 acres) of land to plant on if I wanted it, for as long as was necessary to bring in a crop. The offer was very good. But how could I do it if all of my time was spent working on my brother-in-law’s land? In spite of this I decided to take the offer. I was oniy able to work on it at night so that I could still fulfill my responsibilities to my brother-in-law by day. But I worked my land with heart, thinking about the coming harvest and the money I would use to buy new clothes, shoes and other necessities. All of the work was done by night. I only slept when I could no longer move myself in the work.

At last the harvest came. I invited a few friends to help me bring it in. I had to get it done in one day which was the agreement that I made with my brother-in-law.

There was a businessman (Mr. Rutilio Tones) who bought corn on the cob. He was going to pick it up in a truck. I sold Mr. Rutilio that day two tons of corn at $90 pesos per ton. Aside from the two tons, I loaded ten sacks of corn (a little more than half a ton) into the wagon and took them home as a help for costs. When I arrived home I unloaded the corn into the little storehouse that we had for that purpose. When my brother-in-law came home he asked as to the whereabouts of the rest of the corn. I told him that I had sold it and I could see that he was not pleased. Then he asked me for the money. I told him that I was keeping it, and he demanded that I hand it over to him. I refused and he threw a fit. He told me, “If you don’t give me that money this instant, get the hell out of my house and don’t ever come back.” I said nothing because I was accustomed to remaining silent when he scolded me. It made me sad and angry that he would throw me out this way and I just lowered my gaze. But I felt like an abused dog. All I did was grab the machete that I worked with and considered my own, although it was not. Slowly and crestfallen I left walking in no particular direction and with nowhere to go, simply walking. 
Finally I decided to go to the house of a friend, Santos Aguilar, to talk with him. When I arrived at his house, only his father Benigno Aguilar, a fine person, was home. While speaking with Mr. Benigno it occurred to me to tell him that I was no longer living with my brother-in-law Severo and asked if he would do me the favor of letting me stay in his house if I committed to give him my weekly wages. Mr. Benigno said to me: “Of course you can stay here, son. You can sleep in the house with the other boys.” He had three sons: Santos, Francisco and Santiago, a little boy of six years old, happy and playful, who we lovingly called El Bandido (Bandit). So for the time being I had somewhere to live.

After talking with Mr.Benigno I asked him, “Do you have a sharpening stone? I’d like to sharpen my machete.” He showed me where to find the stone.

The day was drawing to a close and I began to sharpen my machete. It was maybe six in the evening. It had been an exhausting day. I had been working since before dawn and had not eaten all day. And of course when I had gotten to the house with the corn, thinking that I would be helping support my sister’s house, my brother-in-law ran me off. My head was spinning and a macabre thought was forming in my mind. Yes, I’ll do it, I thought as I sharpened the enormous machete of perhaps thirty inches. I’ll kill him. Why not kill him? I wasn’t thinking of law or prison, but rather nothing more than taking my vengeance on him for so much humiliation. What he had done was not the way to pay someone who for years had contributed his labor to the welfare of the family, without even the least thanks.

Night fell. There was no light anywhere. And there I was in front of my brother-in-law’s house right at the door. I had it all planned out. I called his name a couple of times. Then I saw a silhouette in the house. It was he, and he came toward me but not all the way to where I was standing. 
“What do you want?” he asked. 
“I want to talk to you”

“Tell me what you want.”

“Well, come out of there. Let’s go under the mesquite tree.”

“No. Tell me why you’ve come.”

“Come over here by the mesquite.”

“I told you, tell me why you’re here.”

“Look, if you don’t want to go to the mesquite, come outside the house a bit.”

I noted that he was scared and didn’t even want to get near the door, much less go to where I suggested, which was under a tree some 20 meters away, the place where I intended to kill him. I could’ve gone in and killed him there in the house, but I didn’t dare. I felt that it would be cowardice on my part to do it that way.
On seeing that things were not going to work out as I had planned, I decided to leave. Nevertheless my attitude demonstrated that everything has its limits and that my life as his slave had come to an end. His fear of leaving the house saved his life. He paid nothing for the years of exploitation which I suffered at his hand. That experience caused a deep wound on his conscience and a terrible humiliation to his pride, which he had always lorded over me. He could not look his friends and coworkers in the eye. Everyone found out one way or another what had happened. Later I discovered that several of his friends had warned him of what might occur some day if he did not change his behavior with me.

This was very symbolic of the system of exploitation. A worker who rebels against his exploiter and frees himself is similar to the working class that rebels against the ruling class and wins its liberation.

So in that short time and in a dramatic form, a stage of my life ended and gave way to another. When one thing ends, another begins. However, in the future I would never again quietly accept such a humiliating way of life.

With the money from my harvest, I went to the city. I went to a tailor and asked for three pairs of pants of the best gabardine available, at $3.00 each. Wages then were $1.00 a day, so each pair of pants was worth three days’ work. But what difference did it make. Now I would have the pleasure of wearing new clothes that were my own size. Then I went to a garment store and bought shoes, shirts, underclothes and socks. I also bought a wool blanket and a green chest made of lamina. I felt like the best dressed man in the world. Now I could go the dances and show myself to my friends and above all to the girls—ah yes, the girls!

When the weekend arrived I spoke with Mr. Benigno to pay him what I had offered to live in his house. I pulled six pesos out of my pocket and gave them to him, but he refused, telling me,
“No, no! You don’t have to give me that.” I reminded him that that is what I had offered him and was the motive behind my payment. In truth that was how I had become accustomed over the years and was why I insisted that he take it. But he refused. Finally he said to me, “Look, give my wife a peso and that’s plenty.” I had never had it better in my life.

What would be the next thing in this new stage of my life that had just begun to develop? Time would show me how much there was for me to learn yet.

As regards my brother-in-law, one can say that when it rains it pours. His life got harder and harder after he ran me off. Since I was no longer there to work with him, he was unable to keep up with all the work. Soon two of his beautiful girls got sick, and they both died within a week. His work fell behind. And since he had no one to help him, two of his best work oxen drowned in a canal. The harvest was not as good as before. Concretely, his life went from bad to worse.

Perhaps six months passed when he came looking for me. To tell the truth I no longer felt hatred for him. His attitude had changed so much that I couldn’t believe it was he. He was humble and paid attention to me, and it made me pity him. He humbly asked me to come back and live at the house and work with him. He promised things would be different, that he would pay me for each day’s work and there would no longer be problems between us. I didn’t doubt that he was telling the truth. I accepted his proposition and returned to work with him, but I did not live in the house. Now things were different. Every weekend he paid me my wages and at times more than he owed me. We became good comrades and good brothers-in-law. We joked in a healthy way and he never again spoke a coarse word to me. The work normalized as did the production. He always asked for my opinions and suggestions in his work. He asked my advice over how to deal with his children to make them more respectful of him, and he asked if I would speak with them about it.

After some years, I left for other parts. While I was north of the border I heard that he had died, but I was unable to attend his funeral.
PART II

Communists are Made Not Born

It was June 6, 1955, when I crossed the international bridge between Matamoros, Tamaulipas, Mexico and Brownsville, Texas, USA, legally for the first time. I had come as a permanent resident to the U.S.. After I presented my documents to the immigration agents they took me to an office and put me through a supposedly routine interrogation. To tell the truth, I couldn’t see what relationship some of their questions had with my entering the U.S., nor their meaning. I simply answered their questions with nothing more than a yes or no. During that interrogation they asked me questions such as, “Are you a communist? Have you ever belonged to a communist party? Are you a sympathizer with any communist party? Do you have any communist friends?” Following the questioning, they allowed me to go on my way.

I traveled with a Mr. Green and his wife in their luxury car. They had come to the border to pick me up. Mr. Green was the administrator of the place where I was being taken to work. He had provided me with some of the most important documents for arranging my residency in the U.S. He knew me very well as I had worked with him previously as an undocumented worker. In addition he spoke very good Spanish.

As we traveled down the highway toward Corpus Christi, Texas, I was thinking to myself, “I’ve seen the end of harassment from Immigration agents. They won’t deport me now as they had so many times before when I was without papers. Now I’ll work very hard, earn a lot of money and enjoy the same privileges as the rest of the legal residents in this country. If it’s true that the U.S. is the land of opportunity for everyone and only those without desire do not get rich, I will not be left behind. What’s more, who can ask for a better boss than Mr. Green?”
I was also happy to escape a jail cell in northern Mexico where I had been incarcerated 15 days as a vagrant, ironically for the crime of being out looking for work in a strange city. Not having a job was sufficient motive to be convicted and set to sweep the streets eight hours a day without even a right to food. They made you find your own food while they had you out of the jail sweeping the streets, picking up other peoples scraps in the street. No! I would never have to go through those humiliating experiences again. A lack of work and the humiliations rained down on me by the Mexican authorities obliged me to seek in another country what was not possible to find in my own.

Dreams or Reality
While we traveled, I allowed myself to leave behind all of the previous run of bad luck that I had experienced in my life. At the same time, I nurtured a world of illusions for my future. We pulled into a town called Raymondville. Mr. Green parked in front of the restaurant and asked me: “Would you like to eat something?” Or probably he said, “Would you like to experience something?” Whatever it was, I said, “Yes.” Upon entering the restaurant he said, “Wait a minute,” and he turned to a man, perhaps the owner or manager, he was a Mexican man. 

“May this man come in to eat?” asked Mr. Green. “Yes,” the man said. We went in, but Mr. Green directed me toward a table apart from the one where he and his wife sat. I only asked for coffee. The enormous hunger I had felt moments earlier had disappeared. All the while I asked myself why Mr. Green had asked if I could come into the place? Why he had sent me to a table separate from where they sat? Were they ashamed to have me sit with them? I felt frustrated. I was trying to figure out if what I had been thinking about moments earlier on the road with respect to my future, privileges, work, money was reality and what I was experiencing was a dream. Or if this was the reality and what I had been contemplating before was the dream.

Only one thing was reality for me in that moment: I now felt like an abandoned dog. I lived through enormous humiliation in Mexico, and now it seemed that I would experience the same here as well. Nevertheless, what I had just experienced was nothing more than the beginning of another stage in my life. In the U.S. discrimination and racism were not a new thing. It had existed and exists still. Some restaurants had signs saying “No Mexicans Allowed,” and on the city buses the seats in front were only for whites, just to mention a couple of things. Naturally, I had not known this before coming to live in the U.S.

I had considered Mr. Green with a great deal of respect and good will, but after that experience I

began to see him in a different light. This became even more acute when he became despotic

and repressive at work. He explained to me that he had learned Spanish in Mexico where he was

a foreman in the mines in Chihuahua, Mexico. I would have liked to ask the workers at those mines what kind of foreman Mr. Green had been.

Work and slave wages
My work consisted in doing whatever was necessary at the Holy Cross Cemetery, including digging graves alongside another worker named Benito Romero. The cemetery was the property of the Catholic Church where Mr. Green was the administrator. It was one of those jobs in which the conditions are so bad, no one wants to do it. The worst part was digging the graves and burying the cadavers. We also had to dig up cadavers when families wanted to transfer them to another site within the same cemetery. The new graves had to be dug in plots where there had been other cadavers many years before, but this was done so that they could continue selling the plots. Each new grave that we dug meant that we had to pull out old skeletons. Some were totally dried out, while others still carried a terrible smell. Besides that, we found some old skeletons face down and others in a sitting position.

Mr. Green’s theory was that these skeletons had been persons declared dead without having actually been dead and were buried alive. Finding themselves buried perhaps they moved around and simply died in those positions.

The wages were $35.00 per week, for both me and my co-worker. However, in the letter Mr. Green had given me as one of my documents for residency, he had specified that my wages were to be $1.25 an hour. In practice, he only paid me $0.74 an hour, and nothing on those Sundays that I had to work. Now I knew more or less what type of son of a bitch old Green was.

One day as I was digging a grave, a woman approached me and asked, “Aren’t you afraid of the dead?”

“No,” I said.

“Do you remove skulls when you dig these graves?” she asked. 
“Sometimes,” I told her.

“Would you be willing to sell me any of the ones you remove that are still in good condition?”

“How much would you pay me for each one?”
“I’ll give you five dollars.”
“What do you want them for?” I asked her. 
She told me that she belonged to a long line of I don’t remember what kind of devils. Some sort of religious sect that exists to further confuse anybody who gets involved in such garbage.

I thought it over and accepted the woman’s offer. All the while I was thinking, “If, in the end, all of this mess of bones doesn’t do anything else, and if I’m going to one day end up the same, it’s better to get a few pennies to eat with and help myself out a little and avoid ending up in a grave any sooner than I have to. After all, for now I have no other way to increase my wages. Is it a sin? Well maybe so, but what the hell! If the Church as owner of the cemetery sells used graves to make more money why the hell shouldn’t I sell some of this trash as well?” 
I cleaned each skull that was still in good condition. I put them in the trunk of my old car so that on the weekend I could take them to the lady, but she never returned so I had nothing else to do but return the trash to its place.

Around the same time I decided to take a drive one Saturday to Matamoros, Mexico, on the other side of the international bridge. I wanted to look up some old friends of the opposite sex! Damn! Why not say it straight, after all I’m just flesh and bone!

No sooner said than done, Saturday came and I started on my journey, which was some three hours, more or less. I stayed around Matamoros on Saturday and carried out some of the activities I had been contemplating. On Sunday I got in the car for the return trip. I crossed the bridge, came up to the checkpoint and gave the agent my documents and was off. When I got to my house, I don’t know why, but I thought to open the trunk of my car and the first thing I saw were the two skulls with their ear to ear grins as though they were saying, “Well I guess we got back with no trouble, right?” What a mess it would have been if the immigration agent had decided to search the car when I passed through the checkpoint. With all of the hurry to take my trip, I had forgotten to get the skulls out of the car.

I continued working under the above-mentioned conditions for two years without a sign that Mr. Green had any intention of raising our miserable wages. One day I spoke with my co-worker about the possibility of Mr. Green giving us a little raise if we requested it. My co-worker liked the idea of getting a raise but wasn’t excited about asking for it. He was timid and argued that it would be futile to ask since the old man would never accept.

I thought it over and decided to speak with the old man. On payday I went to get my paycheck. When old Green gave me the check I remained there without saying a word. I couldn’t find the words to say what it was I wanted. The old man, seeing me like that asked, “Do you want to say something to me?” “Yes,” I told him. Finally the words came out and I told him that I wanted a small raise. I wanted to explain my reasons but he interrupted me and in a short manner said,
“No. I am not going to give you any raise and it doesn’t matter if you like it or not because you can’t leave this job. If you do, I’ll pull your papers and turn you in to Immigration.”

I definitely had nothing left to do there. I didn’t vacillate for a moment in telling that miserable old Green, “Take the papers if you can, but I won’t work for you a single hour more.” As I left I heard him almost yelling,“Wait, wait. I’m not serious.” But I was, I told him.

Damn! I had come to the promised land to work as a slave my whole life in exchange for a miserable wage that didn’t buy anything, under the threat of having my papers taken away (Green had paid $20.00 for them to the U.S. government at the American Consulate in Monterrey, Nuevo Leon, Mexico.) From that day forward, I never heard another word about the slave driver Mr. Green.

How did I analyze the reasons behind my economic situation? Simply a lack of understanding about how the capitalist system, under which we live, works, and the lack of consciousness about the class struggle, made me see Mr. Green as the only bad boss and my bad luck being to blame for my problems.

We workers are conscious of our poverty because we suffer, we feel it, but if we don’t have a consciousness of the class struggle (working class against the ruling class) we end up blaming everything on god, and on bad luck.

Poverty is not natural. Poverty is imposed. It is imposed by the ruling class and supported by its government. And it is against that class and government that we must fight to the death in an organized way as a working class. This struggle is what is called class struggle, the one about which we need to be conscious and describe what it means to the workers.

I retained the hope of finding a better job and better boss and always with the idea of realizing my economic ambitions. However, I went searching for it in other states. I went to Oklahoma to work picking cotton where for one hundred pounds the bosses were only paying $1.50. That work was done by pulling the branches of the cotton plant up and down with all of the leaves and blooms. The blooms weren’t picked like other types of cotton. So the pay depended on how many thorns the worker broke. For me to earn $15.00 a day I also had to work at night under the light of the moon. I kept my clothes and food in my car and for some time slept there also, parked in the cotton fields.

The work was called seasonal, it lasted two or three weeks in each region and since there were so many people doing the work it lasted even less time.

Afterward I went to Arizona, to Eloy and Picacho, some small towns in the cotton region, following what was known as the “cotton run”, where I didn’t do so well. The contractors were thieves who altered the scales on which we weighed the cotton, so that for a bag that weighed 80 pounds a worker only received the value for 65 pounds.

After a few weeks I went to the Coachella Valley in California. There I worked in jobs that only contract workers (braceros) would~do. During those years there was a program for obtaining braceros from the interior of Mexico. These workers were contracted by bosses in places such as El Empalme, Sonora, Mexico. The work was in the date palms. Dates are a very expensive fruit in the market, but the workers that harvest them are very badly paid. I earned $0.85 an hour and lived in a tiny room. The boss there was named Mr. Michel, and was very similar to old Green. “These are bad bosses that give the others a bad name,” I thought. “What bad luck I have that I keep getting the bad bosses.”

After working two months in the date palms I went to Delano and afterward to Yuba City. Later to San Jose and then I returned to Coachella, always searching for better work. Finally I went to McFarland, a little town in the San Joaquin Valley of California. I established myself there temporarily in 1958. It was also there that my hour arrived and I ended up getting married in 1959. That same year saw the birth of my first girl.

In 1958 I began to work for the rose company Montebello Rose. One of the most difficult jobs in that company was grafting rose plants. The work was done in pairs with one of the pair being the grafter and the other tying the plant. You worked bent on one knee with the face about twelve inches from the ground because the graft had to be at the base of the plant only some two inches from the ground. Given that the position to do that work was extremely uncomfortable for both workers in the pair, at the end of a nine hour shift, you basically had no more energy for anything. I recall that at the beginning of 1959, Montebello sent us to Glendale, Arizona to graft some plants. One grafter named Agustin Vargas, who we called Champion, went back to the old motel where we stayed after a day of intense work, laid back on his bed to rest for a moment and never got up again. He died right there. Champion was a Mexican citizen and legal resident of the U.S. Nevertheless who investigated his death? What organization took charge of the matter? What Mexican Consulate bothered to compensate the family, or what union did anything? As far as I know, no one did.

Recently, although workers have sought other ways to do this grueling work, yet nothing has been found to replace it.

Other rose companies existed such as Konklyn Nursery, Mt. Arbor and others in the same area with whom I also worked and under the same terrible conditions. The wages for grafting work at that time was $10.00 per thousand plants for the grafter and $8.50 for the tying worker. No matter how hard we pushed ourselves we were never able to surpass between three and four thousand plants per day and then we ended up almost dead at the end of the shift.

The bosses retained $2.00 for every thousand plants grafted as a guarantee that the work would be well done. So 90% of the grafted plants were guaranteed to survive. If 90% of the plants survived, the worker would receive the retained money, according to the boss. But in actual fact, whether the survival rate was high enough or not, the worker never saw this money. We workers were always unhappy about this because we recognized it to be theft from our pockets every year.

For my part in the last two years (1963-1964) that I worked with Montebello, I recouped my money. To do so I waited for either of the two owners of the company to come to my workplace and there I demanded payment. The first time both of them came and I practically threatened them. One of them, named Frank, asked me to give him 24 hours. The next day at the same time he came and gave me my money. The following year, 1964, when the work was finished I demanded that Frank tell me what day he was going to pay me the rest of my money and he said that it would be paid by October 30th• I went to his house at ten in the morning for my check and knocked on the door. He answered it with check in hand. That was better.

I also worked for Konklyn Nursery in 1964, grafting just 33,000 plants for which they retained

$66.00 as always the guarantee that the work would be well done. By March 1965 the owner

Konklyn still had not showed any signs of payment for the money he held onto, even though the

work had been well done.

That time it came to me to ask all of my coworkers to go with me to demand our money at the bosses’ office in an organized way. The workers accepted my proposition. However we didn’t all go, just ten of us. I was chosen to speak to the boss for all of us. After listening, the boss replied that he didn’t owe anything to any of us as there had been an insufficient percentage of surviving plants. Since we knew that was a lie, we told him that we were going to the Labor Commission to enter a complaint about the matter. The bOss just smiled and said: “That’s fme. Go wherever you like.” Right there, we decided to go to the Bakersfield Labor Commission 30 miles away.

The next day I was the only one to go. The owner Konklyn had informed all of the rest of the workers that any of them that went to enter a complaint would be fired from their jobs, effectively intimidating them. When I found out, I couldn’t believe my ears. I knew those workers and had seen more than one of them acting very forcefully and bravely in the bars around town, when at the slightest “screw you” they were the first to pull a knife against another worker in a display of machismo. However they didn’t even dare look into the eyes of a miserable boss who bled them dry daily.

I was the only one to enter a complaint. I filled out an enormous questionnaire and they told me they’d send me a letter telling me when and where to go for the hearing.
The card arrived. I don’t remember the date except I recall that it was in the first few days of the month of April 1965 in a court in McFarland where I lived and still live. The letter asked that I bring witnesses to attest to my claim. But on the appointed day, I was unable to convince a single one of the workers to accompany me to the court as a witness. I only found one friend who offered to go with me as a translator.

Nevertheless, Konklyn did bring a witness, another boss from the company Mt.Arbor to testify that they did not retain any money from the wages of the workers. Although I did all I could to demonstrate that what I was saying was true, the judge would not rule in my favor. The owner claimed that what I was demanding was not part of my wages but rather a tip that the company could give to a worker depending upon the quality of his work for the year. And since I had been a good worker they were going to pay me my tip, whereupon the owner put a check on the judge’s desk.

When the judge gave me the check and I saw that it was in the amount of $30.00 I said, nearly yelling, “Thieves! Robbers! Shameless men! I don’t work for tips and I don’t feed my family on charity.” At that moment the judge interrupted me to say: “You workers should be thankful for the privilege of having bosses who give you money you haven’t earned,” while pointing to the check that I left on the table. I did not accept it. The boss picked up his check and the judge ruled the case closed. I kept talking so the judge ordered the police to throw me out, which they did.

What a great experience it was for me within those four walls at that hearing! I had never had the opportunity to see so clearly the essence of a system based on the exploitation of workers, a capitalist system; where I recognized that it was not my bad luck that caused my economic problems; where I saw that there are no good bosses; that they are all bad and all are after the same goal: to enrich themselves at the cost of the exploitation of the workers, through a system where millions and millions of workers only earn misery and premature death through exploitation. I realized that I was not to blame for my economic problems; capitalism is set up so that I would suffer these problems.

Within those four walls I was able to see the entire capitalist system symbolically represented. There was the ruling class represented by those two bosses. There were the forces of repression represented by the judge and police. And there also was the working class represented by me. There in the midst of those four walls was the ruling class and the working class in conflict, where the working class would lose, because we always lose in legal battles, especially when they are not well organized.

Now I understand why I could never have won in that hearing. The Labor Commission as a functionary of the State would never rule in my favor since the State is never neutral in class conflict. In spite of the façade of governmental neutrality it is enough to merely glance at our history as workers to see that it is replete with examples of strikes crushed through judicial mandate, police billy clubs and soldiers’ bayonets.

When I got to the house after the hearing I told my wife what had happened. It was just one more theft. I would continue working as always. I had already gotten another job with the company Germain of Chafter, another rose company where I would begin work the following week. However when I arrived for work at the company, the supervisor Frank Beltran told me without explanation that, by order of the owners, there was no work for me.

I looked everywhere in the area but no boss would hire me. I realized that the bosses had all agreed that none of them would hire me. They all had my name and knew my social security number and had me on a black list. All of this because I had the audacity to demand payment for my stolen wages and for having shouted at the bosses accusing them of being thieves that day in court. All of which for them was a grave insult, a lack of respect and a flagrant disregard of their sacred Scriptures Timothy Chapter 6:17-19).

So now what? Go elsewhere? Or continue to look and hope for better luck? And what luck, since I didn’t believe in luck anymore? Return to Mexico? No! Since I no longer desired riches and no longer believed in good bosses; then why should I go anywhere? I started to think in one thing: organize workers. But which workers? The ones I knew were so intimidated by the bosses that they would no longer even speak with me, especially now that they saw the example that had been made of me. Although to tell the truth seeing workers act timidly was no longer such a strange sight for me. In my wanderings on numerous occasions I had seen workers quietly accepting humiliations from bosses. Maybe this is why I had little confidence in them.

I recall once being witness to something equally bad or worse in El Centro, California. In that region of the Imperial Valley, the bosses did not want to hire resident workers who they called “local workers.” They only wanted braceros, workers contracted to come from Mexico. Workers would apply for work at the ranchers’ association there in the valley. To hide the discrimination, the bosses would not refuse employment to resident workers. Instead they made special job arrangements with the supervisors. The arrangement consisted of making life intolerable for the local workers so that they would have to quit the job.

I had applied and was sent to work for a lettuce company whose name I no longer recall. When I arrived the supervisor asked me, “Do you know how to cut lettuce?” I responded that I did. He looked me up and down and said, “Start carrying the boxes instead.” When he directed me to the truck, he yelled to the driver, “I’m sending you another.” I didn’t like his attitude and I soon figured out what he was doing.

There were enough loaders but they pulled one off and put me in his place. Two loaders were above and two below, with two on each side. The truck moved forward between two rows of boxes full of lettuce. Each box weighed forty pounds, more or less. The loaders below lifted the boxes and the loaders above received and placed the boxes on the truck. When we started loading the truck, the driver slowly began to accelerate in an effort to make me quit from exhaustion, which, according to the driver, would get to me quickly. At the end of a half hour perhaps, I wasn’t the one who was beat but rather my co-worker on the other side, who looked pretty completely done in. When the driver saw what was happening he stopped the truck and got down, came over to me and asked me if I had been a loader before. I told him that I had not but that the work was easy. Without saying another word he got back in the truck and continued at a normal pace.

In truth I had been a loader of lettuce boxes in the state of Arizona. That had been the last job I held before coming to California. I had said no to the driver to make him feel that his best efforts to tire me out were coming to nothing. That was the same test that they forced all local workers to go through. At that time, only Mexican workers (braceros or local workers) held these jobs. Nevertheless, I am sure that had white or black workers come for the jobs they would have forced them to go through the same trials.

The reason the bosses preferred the bracero workers was that they could do anything with them they wanted to. They could treat them badly, work them to death, humiliate them, whatever, and the workers would accept the treatment. They didn’t know that they didn’t have to accept it quietly or didn’t know where to complain. They slept in barracks like prisoners. They bathed and washed their clothes in dirty canals.

On these crews the loader’s job was horrible. The way the supervisor treated them was humiliating. The supervisor was repugnant, tall, fat, a despot and a true son of a bitch. He always carried a knife in his hand that he would occasionally use to cut a head of lettuce. He was constantly yelling at the workers, “Hurry up, you sons of your f___ing mothers. Get a move on.” Meanwhile he would throw rotten heads of lettuce at the workers. At midday a truck would come by with food. It consisted of undercooked beans in a big vat, with bread. The workers were not permitted to sit while they ate and they were not permitted to finish their food. The supervisor would yell and the workers had to return to work with uneaten bread still in their hands. That and much more occurred every day.

Seeing all of this, I became angry with the workers because they wouldn’t say anything and they put up with all of these humiliations quietly. Things hadn’t gotten to that point with me. Also, I brought my own lunch. But I knew that I was within an inch of getting into it with a boss. And I did.

One day after loading one truck and waiting for the next to enter, a matter of two or three minutes, I stopped to catch my breath a little. I heard a loud whistle at my back. It was the supervisor who shouted at me, “Don’t just stand there. Work!” Almost shouting, I answered, but with a cascade of obscenities.

When he heard me he told me, “You come here to do what I tell you, not whatever it is you want.” I answered again but this time in much more defiant terms so that this man would have no doubt that I was challenging him to a violent, physical confrontation, in which he would pay for all of the bad treatment he had dished out to the bracero workers.

From among the workers who stood there observing, I heard someone say, “No brother, don’t talk to him like that. Don’t you see that he’s the supervisor here!” “I don’t care who this bastard is,” I answered. I stepped in front of him with a knife that I had taken from another worker. When the guy realized that I was serious he decided not to push it and backed off, humiliated, “with his tail between his legs.” His attitude with the rest of the workers was very different for the rest of the day.

A few hours after that incident, the owner came up and in a friendly tone said, “Say, son, if you don’t like this job we can find you another.” I didn’t give him a chance to say anything else. I told him, “Sir, the deal is that I’ve had it up to here with you guys. I’m going to finish out the day then I want you to pay me and I’m gone because I don’t want to work here anymore.” He told me I could pick up my check at the office in a few days. It was there and I never returned again.

Now I see that these individual fights with supervisors and bosses never resolve the problems we have as workers because it is not the appropriate form to do it. Nevertheless, they treat us badly as a way to intimidate us and make us produce more for them. There is always the chance that they are going to push someone over the edge that will make them pay for it.

This is why it was not so strange to me that my friends in McFarland, my coworkers, were intimidated by the threats they received from the owner Konklyn. While I had all of this to think about, I was also thinking about my family. What’s more, my second son was about to be born. I had to bring food home, but how? I had applied for welfare but the application was going to take time to determine if I qualified for it or not. For the time being all I could do was go by night to the fields where potatoes had been planted and to the fruit orchards to expropriate something to eat for my family. My wife and I canned whatever we could to eat and subsist on.

Meeting with Cesar Chavez

Although I didn’t know how to begin, I kept thinking about organizing workers. I spoke with this or that worker, searching for a like-minded person so that at least we would be two workers who could then win more and more until we would be many. But I could find no one.

Finally a man named Manuel Rivera told me that in Delano (a town five miles north of

McFarland) there was a man who wanted to form an organization for farm workers, for what

purpose he did not know. I immediately went to look for this man, who turned out to be Cesar

Chavez.

In reality, Cesar Chavez wanted to strengthen an organization which had already begun. He told me that he had many members already enrolled. He really only had a few, as the majority had withdrawn. They had gotten in and when they saw that there was nothing substantial to offer them, they withdrew.

The organization went by the name National Farm Workers Association (NFWA), and a person could join by paying $3.50 a month. I immediately joined. The benefits that Chavez offered to the membership were actually just social services, such as helping fill out forms, translation, or assistance with Social Security. Obviously for workers who don’t even have beans to eat, this wasn’t going to resolve anything. Nevertheless, it was someplace to start.
Chavez’ principal objective, according to what he told me, was to make the organization as large as possible, live off the membership fees and create a strong political force that could be used in favor of this or that bourgeois (boss-run) political party, be it Democrat or Republican. And through these politicians obtain laws for farm workers that would help make their lives better. Sure!! That was an illusion. These ideas from a bird’s eye view were very pretty. But in practice it might not work out quite so nicely, as we have seen.

During the conversation with Chavez I suggested the possibility of a strike in demand for better wages and conditions of work, even though I didn’t know how to organize a strike nor all that it implied. Nevertheless I did understand that it was the only way we farm workers would be able to improve our miserable economic conditions, and for that reason I was willing to come face to face with whatever the consequences might be.

But Chavez was unwilling. His position with respect to a strike was, “No, no! Strike is a big word. Perhaps in a few years we can take on something like that but not now.”

I insisted on a strike and he finally told me, “Invite workers to a meeting at your house and we will discuss it more then.”

I tried talking to workers but since the bosses had prohibited speaking with me, many workers wouldn’t even open their doors. I only succeeded in talking to a few. Only four of us attended the meeting: Jose Magana, Lauro Rodriguez, Ruben Lopez, and myself. Cesar Chavez and a friend also came.

At the meeting we discussed more about a strike, and finally we decided to call a second meeting. To do this we had to change our strategy somewhat. Owing to the fact that the workers at Konklyn Company were very timid, we decided to target Mt. Arbor, also a rose company, to declare a strike if we could convince the workers there. The conditions for the workers everywhere were miserable. The four of us who attended that first meeting, and now we were more than just one, gave ourselves the task of speaking with the Mt. Arbor workers to invite them to the next meeting.

The meeting occurred in a room that was loaned to us. About 30 workers attended, which was now quite a lot more than the four that attended the first meeting. Chavez’ wife and an older lady who accompanied him also attended.

The discussion turned on whether we would strike or not and things looked somewhat gloomy. Those who rose to speak simply said that we were very few and not the majority, that they came from Mexico and needed to take advantage of the season. Those who spoke made more or less the same argument, and things looked pretty bad.

But something significant happened. By coincidence all those who spoke in such a defeatist way were physically very large men. After they spoke the little old lady who had been seated in the back row and said in a loud voice, “Excuse me, Mr.Chavez. I’d like to say a few words.” Chavez was leading the meeting and he gave her the floor. She continued, “I’d just like to say that, as the saying goes, the biggest men are the biggest cowards.” Those who had spoken, the big men, upon hearing this made themselves small in their seats and didn’t look so big anymore.

After this, Chavez turned to me and asked, “And you brother, what do you think?”

Making an effort to change the situation, I answered that yes it was true that we were few, only about thirty. But I am quite sure that each one of those who have come is worth a lot more than those who did not come. That each one who came to the meeting must surely be worth ten of those who didn’t come. Which all means that for the thirty who are present, we are worth three hundred or more and are, as such, the majority. Everyone applauded. Perhaps the spineless people applauded to get out from under the criticism and the others just to avoid being called spineless. Everyone without exception joined in and we unanimously decided to declare a strike at Mt. Arbor.

Now we just needed to call a third meeting to decide what would be the principal demands and what day the strike would begin. That third meeting followed closely the last one and we met in a room in a Catholic Church in Delano. I don’t recall how many attended but we were a lot more than just the thirty from the last meeting

We decided to begin the strike on the following Monday, May 3, 1965. Our principal demands were to be the recognition of the NFWA as the representative of the farm workers, to negotiate a collective bargaining agreement and an increase to $2.50 for every 1000 rose plants grafted for grafters and binders, and a raise for all other job classifications, as well as other demands.

I cannot remember the exact dates that each organizing activity took place, but I do recall that it was in the first days of April 1965 when I lost my claim for wages in the hearing mentioned before, and that by May 3 we began the strike. This means that all of this activity took place in about one month.

The strike began as planned on Monday morning. It was very effective and no one dared cross the picket line. The bosses were under pressure to find scabs (strikebreakers), and on Tuesday they managed to slip in six scabs from the Philippines. But these scab workers didn’t know how to do the job and failed in their attempts to break the strike. Wednesday came and the bosses were so desperate that they were on the verge of accepting collective bargaining negotiations. However, they decided to play one last card. That evening they sent each of the supervisors to speak to every worker telling, them that the pay raises were going into effect, but only for those workers who showed up for work Thursday morning. On Thursday, everyone showed up for work. The leaders and myself were furious. We turned on our heels and went home. One battle had been lost but not the war.

In spite of not obtaining a work contract in that little strike, it was not all bad. The owners raised the wages as we had demanded. The grafters and binders began to earn between $40 and $50 a week more and the other workers also got raises.

What’s more not just Mt. Arbor raised wages, but four other companies found themselves obliged to raise wages in order to avoid possible disputes with workers at their plants. Those four companies were Montebello, Konklyn Company, Germain and Jackson and Perkins.

Very well, and myself? My bad luck streak continued. Since we hadn’t achieved a contract with

Mt. Arbor and since I wasn’t a worker there in any case, I continued without work. Nevertheless

it gave me pleasure to know that all of the workers in those five companies got wage raises. And

I felt better then I had a month before. I no longer felt alone.

Besides rose production for the above companies, during this time what really predominated was the production of table and wine grapes in the area of Delano, California. But where is Delano? Well, Delano is more or less in the center of the San Joaquin valley in the state of California. It is a city of about 20,000 inhabitants. Seven miles north is Earlimart, a town of about 4,000 people. Five miles to the south is McFarland with some five thousand inhabitants. And to the southwest is Wasco with eight thousand people. All of these towns are situated in one of the most productive agricultural areas of the state.

Among the vineyard workers of the area the Mexicans and Filipinos predominate. These workers upon seeing the small triumph of the strike at Mt Arbor also began to catch the bug to strike in the vineyards.

At this time there was an organization in northern California known as the Agricultural Workers Organizing Committee (AWOC) that was made up of Filipinos. That organization found out about the rose strike and came to Delanoto organize the Philippine workers for a strike. They succeeded in organizing a strike in the vineyards within four months but it only included Philippine workers.

Strikes are contagious
The mood among the workers, when we go on strike more than justifies what Lenin (leader of the 1917 Russian revolution) said when he spoke about workers strikes. He said that as soon a strike breaks out in one place, a series of other strikes would break out in other places soon thereafter. Strikes have a great moral influence and are contagious because workers see that our comrades, albeit only temporarily, transform themselves from submissive slaves into upright men and women who walk on two legs and hold their heads high. What’s more, all strikes infuse in the workers the desire to know more about communism. Frequently before a strike the workers know nothing about communism but afterwards many get interested in knowing more about this communism we have heard talk of

The strike makes workers learn where the force of the boss lies and where the workers’ force is concentrated. It shows us that it is not just one boss that is the enemy but that all bosses are enemies of the workers. And we learn to think not just about our closest coworkers but about the entire working class as our ally in the struggle against the bosses.

Frequently the bosses try to deceive the workers, presenting themselves before the workers as benefactors trying to cover up exploitation with gifts and false promises. But when the workers
in a strike gain a consciousness about who the bosses are, we destroy the deceit and show our comrades that the supposed benefactors are actually parasites and bastards.

The AWOC declared a strike on September 8, 1965, against the agricultural companies M. Caratan, Dan Tudor, Anton Caratan and others that employed hundreds of workers. The principal demands were recognition of a union and collective bargaining contracts.

The Mexicans, through our organization, tried to organize in the vineyards, but since AWOC began the strike first, we wanted to join that strike. However the leadership of AWOC, egotistically, did not accept us. They said the strike was for Filipinos and that they would win it alone. Consciously or not, the AWOC leadership was committing a grave error, applying stupid nationalism—a poison to the class struggle.

AWOC’s refusal to allow us to join their strike resulted in stepped-up NFWA organizing activity. Another strike quickly materialized in the entire area which included 33 grape-producing companies.

Pacifism—another obstacle in the class struggle

When a definitive decision had been made by the NFWA to call a strike, the instructions from the principal leader Cesar Chavez were very strict: Do not commit any violent act against the scabs nor against the bosses. A volunteer organizer named Hector Avitia, member of a political organization (MAPA) said, “If they hit you, make yourselves into a ball and throw yourselves to the ground, but do not respond to the attack.” This, like nationalism, is another anti-worker error.

The strike by the NFWA began on November 20,1965, during the grape harvest. The principal demands were: recognition of a union and collective bargaining contracts. I had just gotten work at Jasmin Company when we went out on strike.

So there were two strikes, one by the Filipinos and another by the Mexicans, vying at the same time for recognition by the bosses as representatives of the workers. The workers on strike with the NFWA were greater in number than the Filipinos and that was an advantage over AWOC. In addition, the majority of striking Filipinos lived in the bosses’ fields. That made it easy for the bosses to cut their water, electricity and cooking gas, forcing them to leave the fields and end their strike.

Effectively that is what the bosses did. They turned off the utilities a week after the strike began. The workers had to abandon their houses and their strike crumbled.

Once their strike was defeated the Philippine leaders didn’t want to be left out of the action and they sought an alliance with the NFWA. It wasn’t because they wanted a multiracial alliance, but rather for reasons of personal convenience. That is how the Filipinos became involved in the strike with the NFWA. Once the Filipinos united with the Mexicans and workers of other nationalities such as Puerto Ricans, the strike took on more power. But police repression on behalf of the owners also increased.

I had been assigned to be captain of the picket line at Jasmin Company. And it fell to me to be the first striker arrested in a dispute with a scab who crossed the picket line. That scab accused me of being responsible for an accident he had had in his vehicle. The picket line was very strong and so no scab was able to cross. A few days later, without knowing why, I was changed to another picket line, ten miles south of Delano, also as captain. At that picket line even the bosses didn’t get in. The police were always nearby but they didn’t dare intervene. Several days after I started at this line, Chavez told me that the police were pressing that I be removed from the line because I was dangerous. That is when I was removed and Jim Drake, a pastor from a church, was put in my place. 
Instead, Chavez made me his body guard—an interesting contradiction to his pacifist policies when it came to response to attacks on workers. Chavez wouldn’t let the striking workers defend themselves, but when it came to his own person he had to be protected against physical attack.  Worse yet, now it became very easy for them to kill us. 

After three days as Chavez’ body guard and without doing anything, I couldn’t stand it any longer, and I escaped back to the same picket line. But the line had become very weak, with nothing more than a few strikers. The day after I had been removed, a number of scabs had been passed through without the picketers being able to do anything because the new captain would not allow action. This depressed many strikers and they left and never returned. Pacifism began to have its terrible demoralizing effect. After that, racism began to appear within the movement. 
These are a few of the obstacles that will cause workers’ struggles to fail. This is why a clear understanding of class struggle among the workers’ leaders is a necessity. When there is revolutionary communist consciousness, there is no room for nationalism, pacifism or racism. Without  revolutionary communist theory there can be no revolutionary movement, and even smaller struggles, like strikes, will generally fail to achieve their goals.

So the bosses, seeing that no advanced theory existed within the strikers’ movement, began to see also that it would only be a question of time until they would win.

I was arrested and jailed several more times. I think that I was jailed some fourteen or sixteen times. I lost count. Every time I was arrested, Chavez used it to intimidate the strikers, telling them that my arrests were because I was a violent person and that they had to be careful not to commit acts of violence against the scabs. Meanwhile he was hypocritically using me as his bodyguard. Since this was Chavez’ continuous song, the strikers grew more pacifist every day and fewer went to the picket lines. At that point the bosses began to see the weakness of the strike.

The other thing that was causing strikers to leave was the lack of food and money to maintain the strike in an active state. All of the strikers owed money for rent, car notes, house notes, etc. The workers every day came to the strike asked, “What are we going to live on?” And the strike looked like it would fail.

Seeing how difficult the situation was, Chavez and I made a tour of some cities north of Delano like Visalia, Corcoran, Tulare, Selma, Dinuba, Fresno and others, to speak with various community leaders and ask for help in the strike. Days later, workers began to arrive with boxes of food in their cars. The food didn’t go very far at the beginning. But as the days went by, more and more food came as well as some money from strike sympathizers. Sympathizers also put programs and announcements on the radio to support the strike. Although in a very limited form, some of the problems began to resolve themselves.

Another problem revolved around the many single workers who had joined the strike while living in the bosses’ fields. It was necessary to find them places to live, and we had to rent space or houses for them. I took responsibility for some of these workers.

We also had to establish a kitchen to feed those who had nowhere to cook. People also needed a little money to buy personal hygiene items. Seeing this, I suggested to Chavez that it was necessary to give $2.50 a week in cash to them. While we were discussing it though, Chavez agreed that all strikers should receive $5.00 a week in cash including me. Payments for cooking gas, rent, electricity and water for the strikers was paid with money from the fund for these costs.

The march to Sacramento
1965 went out and 1966 arrived without the bosses giving any signs of surrender in spite of the economic losses they suffered during 1965. January and February passed and the strike movement didn’t look any too strong. For this reason many of the strikers were very worried. But one of the strikers named Jorge Zaragoza got the idea to have a big march to publicize the strike movement. To discuss this, four strikers got together: Manuel Uranday, Jorge Zaragoza, another whose name I don’t recall and myself, as well as Chavez. In that meeting we planned to march to Sacramento, the capital of California, 300 miles away. In other larger meetings we discussed more about the march. Finally in one of these meetings it was definitively decided to do the march. Chavez proposed naming a captain to direct the march to Sacramento. Without saying more the people began to shout my name to serve as the march captain. Cesar Chavez looked at me and said: “You Brother, are going to lead the march.” I accepted with pleasure but I made some conditions: no religious symbols like signs, crosses, statues of this or that, etc., and no nationalist flags either; only many, many red flags of our movement. I felt that religion and nationalist flags should not be mixed with the struggle against exploitation. But Cesar Chavez and others in the leadership disagreed. Others who were involved with churches such as priests, nuns, pastors and the like also didn’t like the idea. So they proposed another person: Manuel Camacho. Manuel accepted, but he made the same conditions as I had and so he was also not acceptable to them. Then they named Jorge Zaragoza. He accepted but also named the same conditions. Supposedly they were naming the best but as could be seen, all of us imposed the same conditions; so they sought out someone more religious than us and settled on Manuel Vazquez, who accepted without conditions. Sadly, Vazquez could not lead the march and three days later resigned and they named an emergency replacement.

March 15, 1966, was decided upon as the march date, and 50 strikers volunteered to make the trip. The police had a plan to stop the march and not allow it to continue. They were misinformed that I was leading the march so they planned to arrest me the night before and so stop it without risk. I got to my house at about 7 pm the day before the march and my wife told me that the police were searching for me. I had an idea what it was about, so I took precautions. With the lights of my vehicle off I left McFarland and went to Richgrove, a little town 15 miles away in another county (Kern). That night I stayed in the house of Eulogio Martinez, a good friend and dedicated striker. The march was going to pass through and I would join in at that time. But the arrest warrant was in both counties (Kern and Tulare). The police located my old car and me too. They threw me in jail.

Hours after my arrest, at ten in the morning of March 15, the march started. A block later it was intercepted and detained by the police. Afterward, through negotiations with the police as to if the marchers have the right, if the law prevails, if the constitution states, telephone calls, prayers and intercessions, etc., and at last the march was allowed to continue but not until one in the afternoon. They turned me loose that night on the same day and I went to meet the march in a town called Ducor that was the furthest it could get to that day.

The march continued the next day and following days. Every day something would happen:

some happy, others sad, groups of workers who joined us, people whose feet gave out, parties at night, this or that couple who got lost, etc. But the most important was that the size of the march increased every day.

During the march, the month of March went and April began. We were surprised by the news that the Schendley Company had just announced that it would recognize the NFWA as the representative of the workers and it was ready to negotiate a collective bargaining contract within sixty days. That was the first company that, pressured by the strike, gave in. It was a happy day for the strikers and all those who voluntarily had joined the march. With that occurrence, the march and the movement in general achieved new strength. At last April 10t1i arrived and the march entered Sacramento with a contingent often thousand marchers. It had been a 25 day march.

As the proposal of the march was to go to Sacramento to ask for justice from Governor Pat Brown, the march would stop in front of the capital. However, for Mr. Governor, it was much more important to go on vacation in Palm Springs than speak with ten thousand people asking for justice for farm workers. So the good Governor left us with a lot of nothing, having to be content with making speeches on the steps of the capital.

It is worth mentioning that only one Filipino striker and one black striker participated in the march from the beginning—a demonstration of what nationalism does to workers’ solidarity by breaking us into segments that dilute our strength.

Why did the march go to Sacramento? What did we hope to achieve? Because Sacramento is where the important politicians in the state of California are found. And it was from them that we had hoped to obtain the justice that we deserved, above all from the Governor.

However, now seeing it from a critical standpoint I can see that that was really idealistic, a true illusion. There was a 100% lack of consciousness about the class struggle on the part of the leadership of this movement. Because, how could it be possible that the working class may obtain justice from the ruling class which is its enemy? It could not and cannot be. Because the Governor, his cabinet and all the politicians that form the government do not represent the working class, but rather the capitalist class which is the one that has political power—power that it uses to impose its exploitation on the working class.

The working class must understand that justice cannot be requested from an enemy. It must be taken from the enemy. And to do that, it is necessary to violate whatever laws may be necessary, laws that the capitalist State makes to repress the workers and keep them submissive and quiet. This assures the right of the bosses to protect their interests.

The rights that the bosses say they have, of course they do have. And they have these rights because they have acquired them through laws they themselves created.

Under capitalism, rights are no more than a collection of norms and rules that the ruling class has established and guaranteed for the State. That is to say the will of the dominant class built into law.

When the contradictions between the working class and the ruling class sharpen, the bosses, supporting themselves in their laws, declare their properties untouchable and guarantee their right to appropriate the work of others.

In a strike, bosses will do what they did with ours back then. They ran to their Courts (the State) and asked the judges to declare our strike illegal to force us to return to work. That way they use their right to continue exploiting us. We had to redouble our efforts on the picket lines, in marches, protests and violent actions against scabs, and the last having been the most decisive in spite of having been against the will of the leadership. That was the only way for us to avoid being defeated by the owners.

Our fight against the bosses was undermined every day by the philosophy of the leadership that workers and bosses could work together through a collective bargaining agreement. In other words, we were not involved in class struggle but rather a struggle for the collaboration of classes—but collaboration from one side only.
The march to Sacramento created a lot of publicity throughout the country. Agricultural labor strikes broke out in other states such as the Rio Grande Valley in Texas and the region around Yuma, Arizona. But the damned bosses stubbornly refused to surrender even as the struggle sharpened. The DiGiorgio Corporation entered into an agreement with the powerful, Mafia-tied truckers union, the Teamsters, to compete with the NFWA to dispute the representation of the workers at that company. An election was held and the NFWA was victorious and the company was forced to recognize the NFWA and negotiate a collective bargaining contract on August

30, 1967.

After the victory at DiGiorgio, the biggest attack by the striking forces centered on the Giumarra Company declaring a boycott on the sale of their product. This time all of the grape producing ranchers reorganized and united to protect the company from the boycott, lending them use of their labels so their grapes went to market. When the NFWA discovered the maneuver, it decided to declare a boycott on all the ranches at the end of 1967.

This point became contradictory. The NFWA had to send many people to different cities throughout the country to organize picket lines in front of markets where Delano grapes were sold. This caused the security lines to end at the point of production. Only a few strikers remained behind, most being elderly, on one single picket line in the agricultural fields of the company Giumarra. The scabs were able to get to the fields without incident.

The devil shows himself to the scabs

Owing to my wife’s worsening long-term illness, I was unable to travel with the boycott. I stayed behind in charge of the only remaining picket line with some fifteen strikers.

It was February 1968, time for pruning in the vineyards. In the mornings there was, and still is, so much fog that one can barely see even thirty feet ahead. The scabs arrived almost before dawn with their windows down and their heads out to better see where they were going in the fog. It is said, and was reported on the news, that it was at this moment that the devil himself grabbed some strikers by the neck and rained down more blows at one time than even their grandmothers had ever given kisses. As fast as they were able, they ran into the vineyard like people who had seen Satan himself, leaving their cars stuck behind them between the vines. Meanwhile, the invisible devil awaited the next scab to wish him a good morning as well. It is said that this happened to many scabs who never again tried to break a strike and even less cross a picket line. And those who escaped, for fear that the devil would appear again, never returned.

That is how the fields of the Guimarra company remained scab free. I recall that on a Friday around nine in the morning I was on the picket line when Chavez showed up and very happily said to me, “I don’t see any scabs around. Why don’t you all take the day off?” But the happiness was short lived. Without a bit of proof the owners threw the book at me. They charged me with I don’t know what all, and I don’t know how many violations of anti-worker laws and orders of the court. And for being the most pacifist and saintly leader in the world, they charged Chavez with all the same violations.

The height of pacifism

This caused such a panic in Chavez that, ironically, the Monday after the devil appeared to the scabs and the courts had leveled their charges, he declared himself to be on hunger strike for 25 days in protest of the supposedly violent acts committed by strikers on the picket line against scabs.

Chavez was so frightened that he called a huge meeting to make his announcement of the hunger strike. He strongly denounced those of us who had been on the picket line that day. I couldn’t have cared less what he did or said about the action. But I was concerned about the elderly that were on the picket line with me because they had done nothing and were also being criticized unjustly, and the criticism could provoke them to abandon the struggle. Since there were a lot of people at the meeting and the majority were workers and sympathizers who were not strikers, they obviously didn’t know who had been on the picket line. It was then that I rose to ask for the floor. I asked my coworkers on the picket line to stand up so that everyone could know them and judge for themselves if a few elderly people were capable of such a violent attack on the scab bastards and thereby deserving of this blistering attack by Chavez. I felt that this would exempt my coworkers from any misinterpretation by the people present there.

Chavez hoped to use his criticism to impose his philosophy of pacifism on the people present and make them see that the violence would cause him to suffer through a hunger strike. His hunger strike provoked so much publicity that people came from far and wide to participate in the masses and vigils that were being made in front of him. All of this was helped along by priests, nuns and pastors from different churches as well as a doctor. There were also people in tents on constant vigil in front of where Chavez lay.

At the same time, politicians of all stripes from local to presidential candidates like Robert Kennedy, George McGovern, Eugene McCarthy and Hubert Humphrey lined up to be seen with Chavez. Supposedly this was to be symbolic of their unconditional support for his hunger strike and the cause. What they really wanted was to give Chavez publicity, a favor they hoped he would return by participating in their political campaigns in search of votes. And so, when Robert Kennedy was named presidential candidate at the Democratic Party Convention on March 19, 1968, it was the fulfillment of a dream Chavez had entertained since he had begun the NFWA. Now he had the political clout that he had always sought which, according to him, would be used in benefit of the farm workers and would also make him into “an important person.”

During his hunger strike, Chavez was idealized and he became the subject of a personality cult.

Meanwhile, my life was going from bad to worse. Criticism was raining down on me by all

those who cultivated the Chavez cult of personality at that time. (Eliseo Medina, Antonio

Mendez, Luis Valdes, the director of Farm Workers Theatre and others.) I was blamed for Cesar

Chavez’ hunger as a result of my violent behavior against the scabs.

I lit into these bastards. I told them that while many don’t eat because there is nothing for them to eat, others stop eating because they want to; because if there was anything that Chavez had plenty of it was food. Then they criticized me for expressing myself in such a way. I responded, “I am not a diplomat, nor a damned politician. I am only a worker, and as such must express what I feel, think and want in the best way I know how.”

When Chavez decided to end his hunger strike because he had become too weak, it occurred to him (or he was advised) to tell everyone there during the daily 5pm mass that he would starve himself to death if necessary, unless everyone took an oath not to commit any acts of violence.

And everyone there at that moment swore what he asked, putting an end to his hunger strike.

Chavez’s hunger strike was in protest of the violence against the scabs by strikers, not a protest against scabs. To Chavez, the wrongdoers were not the scabs but the strikers. But why defend scabs if the first thing that a striker learns is that so long as bosses have scabs they need not worry about strikes? As such, in a strike bosses and scabs are the same thing. Since a scab belongs to the working class yet sides with the ruling class, he is 100% a traitor, and deserves what he gets. As far as traitors go, f___ them up, run them off, find out where they live and break their legs, pull them by their ears but get them out of your workplace so that they can’t break your strike. They are cynical and shameless. They say, “If you win the strike, I win too. And if you lose, I win anyway because I’ve got your job.” They don’t care if strikers risk jailing, injuries or even death to win gains that they, too, would benefit from and without risk.
So why did Chavez put so much effort behind defending scabs, we strikers wondered. Well, maybe because he never worked! A person can try to justify anything she or he likes, but defending scabs is also defending bosses. He said that all of us were children of god and brothers as well:

bosses, scabs and strikers. Well, I’d rather not be a son of god than to be brother to those bastards. My brothers are those who work beside me defending the same cause, the same ideas, who if bent never break under the rigors of the struggle. Those are my brothers.

The Church offered its support to Chavez and also gave him political advice. Its advice was idealist (in contrast to realist) and should be expected, because the Church has never represented the working class. Its role is to push idealistic, religious mysticism.

Chavez was a fanatical Catholic and with the Church’s advice used the hunger strike for two purposes: to impose his pacifist philosophy on the workers and to inspire pity in the public, including the bosses. That way of thinking is defeatist in and of itself. Those who think this way say, “The bosses have a ruling class (bourgeois) ideology and exploit workers, but they will feel morally obliged to stop screwing the workers and effect their own transformation if a work of conviction and self-sacrifice is carried out in front of them.”
That same theory is also used demagogically by the liberals who struggle against capitalism not to overthrow it but rather to make it more “reasonable.” If the bosses can simply be made to understand that they are exploiting the workers—the proponents of this theory say—they will stop doing it. That is a totally idealist theory with no basis in reality.

This explains why there was so much friendship between Chavez and the bosses and scabs. He wanted to get along both with god and the devil. With this kind of leader it will be impossible to definitively win the struggle. His type of struggle is not class struggle but collaborationist struggle. And that is a losing strategy for the workers as we will see further on.
Supporting one politician against another is against the interest of workers
After his hunger strike, Chavez dedicated himself to Robert Kennedy’s political campaign. He sent many of us to different cities in the state to go door to door asking people to vote for Kennedy in the upcoming elections. Several of us were sent to Los Angeles to work under Bert Corona, a leader of a nationalist political organization, the Mexican American Political Association (MAPA) which Chavez had named to lead the campaign in Los Angeles. We were all over East Los Angeles going door to door asking people to vote for Kennedy for president and Tom Bradley for Mayor of Los Angeles. We were given a dollar a day with which to eat and we slept in an abandoned church. One day very early on our way to work, I said to my co-worker Joaquin Ramirez, “That’s it. How can we be out doing this work, getting votes for someone who is going to do exactly the same thing as the ones who are in office right now?”
I was also thinking about my wife who was gettthg sicker every day and was alone struggling with the children while I was working for a political campaign. No! This made no sense to me. I told Joaquin that I was thinking of taking off right then and there and going home to be with my wife and kids. Joaquin agreed and decided to do the same thing. We threw all of the propaganda we had into the trash and went to Bert Corona’s office. When he arrived Bert said, “You finished early. Here’s another list for you.” When I told him that we had decided to go, he told us, “No! Not that! Cesar will get very angry!” 

“Well, Cesar can go to hell with his political campaign. We’re leaving,” I answered. I started up my old car and off we went.

Strikes open the eyes of the workers, not just with respect to capitalists, but also as to what government and laws mean. You also see how the bosses make an effort to appear like boy scouts to the workers. Public functionaries, too, along with politicians and their lapdogs, all make an effort to convince the workers that they are truly worried about the workers as much as about anything else. Rubbish!

That is why so many politicians made an appearance in Delano and even walked the picket line with the strikers with strike buttons in the buttonholes of their suits. Hypocrites!

Since we workers are not familiar with laws, and we don’t rub elbows with functionaries, we frequently fall into the trap of believing that the Government is good, as we are told that it is.

Nevertheless, when a strike breaks out, suddenly the bosses appear flanked by the police with Court orders that we are told we must obey. And that is when we realize that we are violating laws we didn’t know existed, laws that have been written to benefit bosses.

Generally during strikes we are prohibited from using megaphones or sound equipment that could inform other workers as to the reason behind our strike. The Government is well aware that every strong strike is nothing more than the tip of the monster’s nose (as the rich say) of a workers’ revolution.

So strikes teach us how to unite. Strikes teach us that only united are we able to sustain a struggle against the bosses. With communist leaders to raise the level of our outlook, strikes can teach us to think about the struggle of the entire working class against the ruling class and its Government.
We must not miss the train

While the grape boycott got stronger in the rest of the country, in the area of Delano it was a great effort to stop the grape shipments that daily left for stores around the country. The loaded trucks were followed to their destinations. And once it was discovered where they were unloading, picket lines were organized in front of the destinations.

One night in Bakersfield, a city 30 miles south of Delano, we located a trailer loaded with grapes that was being lifted onto a train heading north. We rapidly organized a group of five men to follow the train that left at seven that night. The purpose was also to cross our fingers and hope that we would find out where the grapes were being sold. We got hold of some clothes that disguised us as hobos so that we could do our job without being detected as easily.

We followed the train as it ran parallel to Highway 99. We knew that the train would stop for a few minutes in a place called Famoso so we waited for it there while one of the group got off to see if it would be possible to board the train along with its cargo of grapes. We rapidly sped ahead and waited for it in Delano where we expected to see our hobo co-worker but we couldn’t see him in spite of the fact that the train was traveling very slowly. We had lost him. We stopped looking when the train began picking up speed and we had to follow it. We went by highway following the tracks keeping it in sight by binoculars when it moved further away. At Fresno, a city 86 miles from Delano, it was my turn to be the hobo and try to achieve what we were aiming for.

But by the time I got there the train was already pulling into the station where many other trains were already parked. In light of this, I was left with no option but to hide myself from the guards between the wheels of a trailer. I remained hidden as the train pulled in. It stopped and a guard lit up the area where I was hidden but he didn’t see me and walked past. A moment later, the train moved slowly forward but then stopped in front of a spotlight that lit up everything including my hiding spot. Since the train had stopped moving, I had to run like a cat crossing in front of whatever trains were parked on the tracks.

When I got to the edge of the platform I came upon a enormous barbed wire fence eight feet high, or maybe six, but it seemed higher. Anyway, I was able to climb it without much difficulty. When I got to the Street I found my coworkers there waiting for me in the car. The train pulled out thirty minutes later going north again. We followed it until several hours later it pulled into a train station in Roseville, California. From afar, using the binoculars, we were able to see that it pulled out a few minutes later from among the other trains going east of Roseville. We followed keeping it more or less in sight. In the middle of the night through the mountain range we sometimes lost sight of it for a time whenever the tracks left the line of the highway. Nevertheless we were certain we were behind it. About six in the morning we entered Reno, Nevada. And when we got closer to the train we almost fainted when we discovered that the grapes had become cows. From Roseville, we had been following the wrong train. Ours had gone a different route. On the way back hungry and tired, we were dying of rage and fainting from laughter.

The students also helped us

The boycott against the grapes got stronger by the day. The students at the universities gave a lot of support to the farm workers, taking a central place on the picket lines at the stores where grapes were sold. They also collected a lot of food that was taken to Delano for the strikers.

At the same time the war in Vietnam was being unmasked more and more as a criminal war of aggression by the U.S.. This caused students and other organizations and the working class itself to relate the injustice represented in the war against Vietnam with the injustices committed by the ranchers against the farm workers. In the large marches against the war around the country, chants known to all went, “U.S. Out of Vietnam, NOW!”—a chant originated by the PLP. (I only discovered that this was a PLP chant later when I learned about the history of the Party.)

Every day that the boycott got stronger, the ranch owners got weaker. The day came when they ran out of money; the banks stopped giving them loans. And although President Nixon was doing everything possible to get them out of the hole by buying their grapes and sending them to Vietnam for the soldiers, it was having no appreciable effect.

By June 1970 the bosses of the thirty-three agricultural companies were left with no other choice than to get in line to sign collective bargaining contracts with what was now the United Farm Workers Organizing Committee (UFWOC). The NFWA had for some time been in the AFL​ClO (American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations) which was the group that created the name UFWOC. It was with this group that the ranchers signed contracts. It is said that nothing bad happens without good following on its heels. Who knows what would have happened to our strike without the Vietnam war.

After the victory over the ranch owners, Chavez idealized the boycott as a unique weapon, infallible, against any and all agricultural companies to gain collective bargaining contracts. Supposedly just the threat of a boycott of their products would be sufficient to sway the bosses without the necessity of a strike. He was so enamored of his magical weapon that he even named his dog Boycott. But he was wrong. Ironically he was never again able to win another collective bargaining contract through its use once the war was over. The best weapon of struggle against the bosses, with exception of armed struggle by the workers, continues to be strikes at the point of production, the militancy of the workers on the picket lines and a take no prisoners war against the traitorous scabs. Everything else is totally secondary.

The contracts were for a three year duration, meaning they expired in June 1973. This gave the farm workers a rest. Worker committees were formed to enforce and defend the contracts. The medical benefits plan was good. A clinic and gas station were established for exclusive use by the membership along with other services as well. Things were going pretty well. The Organizing Committee reached a total of 125,000 members in California. The AFL-CIO recognized the Committee as the UFWA (Union of Farm Workers of America) in 1972.

Besides Mexicans, there were many other nationalities of farm workers who joined the union, such as Puerto Ricans, Filipinos, Arabs and many “undocumented” workers.

Discrimination and racism show their ugly face
“Undocumented” workers always had the hope of finding protection in the union in exchange for their participation in the long struggle. The union distributed work through a hiring hail and almost immediately, these “undocumented” workers were confronted with an enormous sign above the window of the office that said (exactly): “No workers without legal residency papers in the U.S. may work where there are contracts, and may not be members of this Union.” So these workers could not obtain the benefits nor protections that they had hoped to achieve through the union. But this was just the beginning of a ferocious campaign that Chavez let loose later against the “undocumented” workers. By 1973, Chavez had established what came to be know publicly as the “Wet Line” in the area of Yuma, Arizona. It consisted of a number of army tents along the border with a group of men in each tent. Chavez’s cousin, Manuel Chavez, was in charge of assisting the immigration agents in detaining whoever tried to cross the border into the U.S. illegally. If men like Chavez are the leaders defending the workers, what do we need enemies for?

Salt in the wounds
For me, things were still not going very well. The contracts did not specifically state that strikers should be given priority in being hired. And the bosses favored those who had been scabs. Also, owing to my wife’s illness, I was three or four days late in going to the union hiring hall to ask for my work card so that I could return to work at Jasmin Company, where I had been before the strike. At the office they told me that there was no request for workers from that company or any other but that as soon as there was they would let me know. So I was on the outside. I was angry but I controlled myself. I telephoned the office several times to ask if there were any jobs available and the answer was always no. Afterward, I was informed by a company supervisor named Jovito Maldonado that this had been arranged between the bosses and Chavez. So after five years of strike and struggle, I was out of work. I was not just on the bosses’ blacklist. Now I was on the union blacklist as well. Nevertheless, I had to continue.

In the short run, although I was a little tired, I was able to get work in a stable where I was not known, milking cows. I worked there for one month in the slot of a worker who was on vacation. When he returned he took his job back and I was out of work again.

My situation was desperately difficult. Some of my coworkers who knew my predicament told me that I had made the error of not accepting a position in the main leadership body of the union during the strike, as this would have protected ajob for me afterward if I hadn’t wanted to continue in the leadership. My response was: you know me well and you also know them. Do you think that I could be a good friend to them?

After I was left without work at the stables I decided that I had to follow through with the only alternative left to me, regardless of the consequences. I went straight to the union hiring hall and spoke with Alicia Tapia, the woman in charge, and I demanded that I be given a work card to work at Jasmin Company where I should have been working all along. Alicia refused to give it to me arguing that no workers had been requested by the company. But I was there and I was going to get the work card. And I got it. Well, why the hell not? That was Friday afternoon. From there I went to the supervisor’s house, Pete Serna. I told him to inform his boss that on Monday I would be at work. The supervisor told me that they didn’t need any more workers. “It doesn’t matter,” I told him. “You just tell your boss what I’ve told you.” The next day, Saturday, in the afternoon, two supervisors came to my house, Pete Serna and Raul Irizarry to tell me that the boss wanted me to know that if I wanted work, possibly they would need people in a couple of weeks, but not now. “I don’t care!” I said to them. “You tell him that I’ll be there Monday morning at 7am.”
The following day, Sunday, about nine in the morning, Vincente Zaninovich, the big boss, came to my house. Since I was on the patio of the house I saw him come up. He got down from his truck almost yelling in a “very friendly” voice and said, “Hello! Hello! You win! You win! I came to tell you that Pete and Raul didn’t tell you yesterday what I sent them to say. I told them to tell you that you can come work whenever you like. You win, and tomorrow I’ll see you at work.”

“I’ll be there,” I responded. He said goodbye and left. So why such an uproar from a boss? Why did he come to my house personally to offer me work when he could have rejected me because he didn’t need more workers?

Well, let’s see. During the first week of the strike five years before (1965), I was arrested the first time in front of his property where I was the picket captain and no scab was able to enter. When I got out ofjail I went back to the same picket line. One morning this boss arrived, stopped his truck in front of me and Manuel Garza, another striker, and in an angry voice told me, “If you put a foot on my property, I’ll kill you,” at the same time showing me the rifle that he had with him. “I won’t,” I told him.

He started his truck and took off. Then he stopped and reversed to where I was. Then more calmly and pretending to be nice he said, “Camacho, how much do you want? Tell me. How much? Besides that, I’ll give you a supervisor’s job right now, but tell me how much you want to let the workers come in?” He didn’t say, “I’ll give you this much.” He said “How much?” That is to say, he wanted me to tell him how much it would cost him for me to let the scabs cross in to work. 

It was a tempting offer, but I told him, “Look, you have your forces and I have mine (my comrades). If we lose this strike then you’ll say if I can work here again or not, but if we win you’ll have to give me this job, like it or not.” Since my response was definitive, he left and didn’t speak to me again.

That is why I decided to go to the union offices to ask for a work card, because I remembered the CHALLENGE/DESAFIO that I had made to the owner five years earlier. And now I was determined to put it to good use. Also, the boss knew me and knew that I was serious when I said that I’d show up for work the following Monday, because he also remembered that conversation. That’s why he showed up at my house saying, “You win! You win!” Nevertheless, he did what he could to avoid having me work there, sending his supervisors to my house with his message. But when he saw that I was determined, he decided to go to my house to offer me the job “in good will,” and so avoid having me show up to work in a less than good mood. It would have been bad for him if I had arrived there shining a light on the agreement that he and Chavez had made against me. I dare say that they (the boss and Chavez) spoke about it before the owner came to my house.

So on Monday, I went to work. The boss was there and behaved in a “very friendly” manner. I also found many of my friends there.

Very well! Now it looks as though I had gotten off the blacklists both of the bosses and the union. But the interests of the bosses and the traitorous union leadership are antagonistic to the interests of the workers. The friction between the two sides never disappears. For that, one must constantly be aware that the blacklists are always just around the corner and you can end up on one of them.

Now I know that the blacklists in matters of labor have always existed. The bosses have always used them to keep out workers who have ideas that can influence others. And the anti-communist union leaders take a seat second to none, above all to do their best to fulfill the Taft Hartley law prohibiting union membership and leadership to communists in the U.S. If they even suspect that a worker has communist ideas, they do their best to keep him out of leadership and if possible out of the union.

Now, I know also that since 1965 the ranchers had placed me on a blacklist because they considered my ideas communist, which, as it turned out, was true, although I didn’t know it at the time.

With respect to anticommunism within the unions on the part of the leaders, Chavez was no exception. In 1968 in his paper El Malcriado he inserted the following: “The Farm Workers Organizing Committee (UFWOC) offers ten thousand dollars to whoever provides the name of anyone that says Cesar Chavez is a communist.”

This sort of leader, just like the bosses, does not hesitate to ruin the lives of many workers and their families by placing them on blacklists for having expressed their ideas.

When I began to work at Jasmin Company there was still no Committee that represented the workers on the union’s behalf. Given this need, two days after having begun work, the workers elected me to be their immediate representative before the company.

Nearly as soon as the workers elected me to represent them I became a stone in the shoe of the boss, because every time there was a violation of the contract we responded with work stoppages. For example, if the water barrel was too far away or lacked ice, we stopped work until the problem was resolved. If the toilet was too far away or was dirty, again we stopped working. In certain cases the boss requested that we come to an agreement at the union offices with Cesar Chavez. However, we refused to resolve disputes in that manner: we were the ones working our asses off, not Chavez. That is why the problems had to be resolved right there at the point of production and not in any office. We enforced the contract and even improved a few sections of it.

The contract stated, “Nine hours a day, six days a week”. However, in the winter the days have fewer hours of sun and there is too much fog in the mornings, making it dangerous for the workers on the roads. There were frequent accidents due to low visibility. Besides, it was necessary to leave for work in the dark and also return in the dark. Therefore we decided to tell the boss that we would only work eight hours a day. At first he was opposed. He argued that the contract states “nine hours.” We argued back and forth and pointed out that his accident insurance did not cover us while we were on the road. He finally accepted—grudgingly, but he accepted.

One day, the boss offered a job to a worker and then did not accept him. The worker lost two days but we forced the boss to pay him for his time and give him the job. In another instance, I pushed for us to work only five days a week and not six as the contract dictated, with the point being that the boss would hire more workers. But my coworkers would not accept it. Since they did not accept it, I told them that I was only going to work five days and not six. I spoke with the boss and told him in advance that I was only going to work five days a week. We argued again a little, but he accepted. From that time on I only worked five days a week. After all, I needed to dedicate more time to my family, especially since my wife was extremely ill.

Labor contracts often do not contain what is best for the workers, but they should be enforced where they do. Although the contract may not be so great, if it is not enforced by the workers it is worthless altogether. It is not sensible to cede even one inch to the bosses, because they will take a mile.

The police intervene
In 1973, the contracts were set to expire and the contract with the company where I worked was short only a week or so of expiring. The boss asked that the union hiring hail send two workers. He was sent two women and he refused them. When they were not accepted they came over to me and told me what had happened. I told them to work next to me since it was the same work as that for which they had come to work. But the boss was displeased and told me that the women had not been accepted and that he had requested two men. During the discussion I told him. “These two women can do the same work as the men, and they are going to stay and work.” 
“If you insist on having these women here then you’re fired, too,” he said.

“You can fire me, but we’re going to stay right here and work,” I responded.

“Then I’ll call the police.”

“Call them. I don’t care.”

He left, and we continued working. I knew these two women. They had been courageous strikers, and they were not intimidated. We agreed among the three of us that if the police came we would argue with them, and if they tried to throw us out they would have to carry us, or drag us, but we would not leave voluntarily.

Just a few minutes later a police car pulled up with two cops, one Mexican and the other Anglo. When they got over to where we were working, the Mexican cop said that by order of the boss we would have to leave work. 
I responded, “You two have nothing to do with this. This is a problem between the union and the company. What is happening here is they are violating the working agreement. Are you two familiar with our contract?”

“No,” answered the Mexican cop.

“Is either of you responsible for resolving disputes between the union and the company?” 
“No,” he answered.

“In that case you are getting into problems.”
The Mexican cop explained to the Anglo cop what was occurring and asked for his opinion. The other just shrugged his shoulders but said nothing. Without saying another word they turned and left. But there was no cheering.

We continued working all day. Unfortunately the contract expired two days later and we did not want to return, because without the contract they were going to throw us out with the garbage.

Right away and without any effort I was able to acquire a work card in the union office to work at Robert Farms company where the contract was still several days short of expiring. All of the contracts were due to expire by June 1973, and the bosses were not giving any signs that they wanted to renew them.

It is important to clarify the following: It had been just a little over a year (April 7, 1972) since Chavez, Dolores Huerta (the vice-president of the union) and I had held a discussion with respect to the renewal of our contracts. My point was that the contracts were going to end the following year (1973) and nothing was being done to prepare for the possibility that the ranchers might not renew them. In fact, it was quite probable that the ranchers would not renew them. If they did decide to fight renewal it would be because they could see that the union leaders, since having signed the first contracts, had been resting comfortably on their laurels.

Chavez and Huerta had so much faith in the bosses and talked about them as though they were gentle little white doves, something the bosses were taking advantage of to carry out their supposedly secret plan. In truth they had given quite a few signs that they didn’t intend to renew the contracts. In spite of all the clues, the union leaders kept their heads buried in the sand.

I discussed all of my concerns with Chavez and Huerta that we were going to have problems again. Chavez even dared say to me, “You’re crazy. Look, for example, when the contract ends at Inter Harvest (a lettuce producer in Salinas, CA), all I have to do is pick up the telephone, and from here I can make them renew the contract.” That is how incredibly stupid Chavez’s estimation of the situation was. But I did warn them what was coming. And it came about exactly like I said.

Strike breaks out again
Several days into my working at Robert Farms, the union and its membership received the unhappy news that the majority of the companies, including Robert Farms, had signed contracts with the Teamsters Union, without any of us knowing that it had happened.

This came as news both to the leadership and to the workers. The leadership called an emergency meeting and decided to go back on strike as the only alternative. Another meeting was called and it was decided that in two days, at 10 in the morning, the cry of “STRIKE!” would ring out at all the ranches even if the contracts had not yet expired. I do not recall the date that this strike broke out but it was in the month of June 1973.

During the two days leading up to the strike, some emergency preparations were made among the base, which is to say the most militant workers, and without consulting with Chavez since we felt he would not agree with some of the details. The principal agreement was that we would try to win the strike as quickly as possible in order to avoid getting screwed for five years or more like the last time we had struck.

When we spoke of winning the strike as quickly as possible we were not speaking of winning in hours, days or weeks, although that would have been the best. We meant months perhaps but not years. We already knew what being on strike meant and we knew how difficult it is to win it and that it is possible to lose it. We knew how difficult it is to stop up all of the holes where the danmed scabs can enter into the fields, and to battle against the protection that the police provide them. And we knew about the repression by the courts against the strikers, with its anti-worker orders always in favor of the bosses. We knew about the harassment by the police against the most militant strikers, the prohibition of megaphones and groups of strikers at the property gates, the false arrests and exaggerated bails and fines against those jailed, the economic damage lawsuits in Courts against the union. We also knew that we would have to face economic hardship and a lack of means to pay for the necessities of the workers on strike and for the movement in general. So we were well aware of all of these realities when we referred to winning the strike rapidly. We knew that we weren’t going to be able to achieve our goals by praying and going on a hunger strike. Hunger was not going to be so scarce that we would have to go looking for it.

We also knew that many would not participate on the picket lines. Those who did not participate would never know the suffering we endured to achieve what had been gained. They might even come to believe that the victories came by faith in god. Or perhaps as the difficulties mounted, they might enter into some settlements with the bosses, abandoning their coworkers in the middle of the fight and become scabs. We were aware of it all, and had to keep our eyes wide open.

We could not deny the reality of our situation either: anywhere one looked, the majority of the workers gravely lacked the political consciousness to understand how far the bosses would go to take back even the smallest rights that the workers had suffered so much to acquire. One must be constantly vigilant, always on our guard, and not allow what is ours to be snatched away. As a whole, we had not done this and so the ranchers caught us “with our pants down.” The union leadership had never shown much interest in learning lessons from the workers, and didn’t even pay attention to their own words as far as remaining alert and in constant struggle with the bosses. They had spent too much time resting on their laurels. Now, as we will see, we were going to pay dearly for all of this.

When the appointed day to declare the strike arrived, many had brought their union flags in their cars and others had them hidden in their clothes. At exactly 10 in the morning when the cry of “STRIKE!” went up, we all pulled out our flags and ran to our cars. We went around the entire area with other groups and ensured that nobody stayed at work. That is to say that none of the tractor drivers, irrigators, weeders, truckers had remained in the fields. We spent the whole day making sure that everyone in the area had left work. The next day we were all at the picket lines and each line had its captain. I was left as a private. The leadership did not want me in charge of any pickets because, according to them, I was very violent and the strike had to be very pacifist. But that didn’t affect me because in a strike such as ours there are many forms of militancy and I was not going to stay behind.

Almost as soon as the strike broke out, clandestine groups of three to five strikers in each group, including women, were formed. It was very important in the formation of these groups that no one person exclusively organized them. It was enough that some certain suggestions were made for the workers themselves to spontaneously organize the groups. Each grouping had its own leader and none of the groups were aware of the mission of the other groups. All the groups were aware that there were many spies within the movement with a mission of finding out who were committing violent acts or other acts against the bosses. There were priests, nuns, church pastors and others who passed as university students but were really police, who came through as volunteers. Since all of the volunteers were Anglo, it was necessary to be extremely careful not because the Anglo volunteers were bad but because there were unfortunately many spies among them.

In the area of Delano these clandestine groups in particular played a very important role during the strike. Because of their participation, in less than two months the bosses were against a wall. There were irrigation lines damaged, water pumps burned, grape vine plantations destroyed, quantities of almond trees cut. Also, almost all of the police cars were out of service. The police were forced to use private cars and without radios. The guards hired by the bosses in the fields hid themselves at night for fear that something bad would happen to them. Scabs no longer wanted to scab because their cars were constantly damaged. At first the bosses paid for their damaged tires, but it got too expensive and they stopped doing that. There were too many flats. Landlords with rental properties did not want to rent to scabs because the houses got burned. They said that the scabs were cursed, which was why the houses burned where they lived. The police reported that more or less 200 cars were damaged daily, including police cars.

The police tailed me for a while. Every day a police car was behind me and at night there was a patrol car in front of my house. But coincidentally the police car that followed me got flat tires and they gave up following me.

Given this situation, the bosses opted for inserting a Mexican spy, Gabriel Urquizo, a scab for the Three Brothers Company. This spy succeeded in infiltrating one of the groups and he invited the members to come one night and burn his boss’s irrigation pump. The members took the bait and were surprised by the police there waiting for them. Three of the group were arrested and the spy escaped. From then on it was necessary to redouble the precautions and not allow anyone else into these groups unless the person was exceptionally well known to the group.

Workers like these in the clandestine groups are admirable because when they prepare to go to battle with the exploiters they have great, imaginative resources to call upon to carry out their purposes. When they can no longer put up with having to beg on their knees for bread for their children, when they tire of hollow and defeatist philosophies, and the theft of their work and wages, they stand up and fight to the death against their exploiters. Only one thing can defeat these workers: the lack of a revolutionary communist ideology. When that ideology exists among the workers or among the masses, nothing can stop them.

As the days passed, the struggle became more fierce and the war against the scabs was continuous. The people were practically insubordinate to the pacifist philosophy of Chavez and had returned to organized violence.

At dawn the streets leading to the fields were blockaded, and flying rocks impeded any scabs who attempted to enter. The same was occurring in the labor camps of Shafter, where there had been an enormous nest of scabs and none of them were allowed to leave. On many occasions, the strikers furiously assailed scab crews who then left their cars, trucks, tractors and semis loaded with grapes abandoned. All of it was destroyed by the strikers. Even the portatoilets were turned upside down. Several times the picket line captains remained outside pleading with the strikers who could no longer be held back, “No violence, no! Please, no violence!” Meanwhile Chavez remained in his office, praying for peace.

For some time, Chavez had felt that he was going to have a difficult time enforcing his pacifism upon the strikers and he resorted to tactics such as hunger strikes, masses, religious marches, and participation in Democratic political campaigns, to try and keep the workers lined up behind his philosophy. On several occasions he purged the movement of very militant and dedicated elements, because supposedly they were communists.

He also reprimanded me. He would yell at me, “The problem is not encouraging the workers; the problem is stopping them!”

“And why should we stop them?!” I yelled back at him. 
He went so far as to arrange with his lawyers to lose any cases in which I was involved, whenever I had been arrested on trumped up charges by the police. This loss of control over the pacifism of the workers was behind his intimidations against me. He would say to others, “I’m going to cut the balls off anyone who organizes politically against me!”
Violence to Chavez was not legitimate for oppressed and exploited workers, but its use, or threat of its use, was perfectly legitimate for those in power, including himself.
As I said the bosses had signed contracts with the Teamsters Union which was effectively the same thing as the bosses’ organization. So it is no surprise that the Teamsters had a group of morally cheap, but economically well paid killers at the service of the bosses to patrol its properties. One day in the area of Lamont, a rural town about 45 miles south of Delano, the killers brutally attacked a picket line with sticks and baseball bats leaving many very badly injured. Although the police were present, they did nothing to stop the attack, confining themselves to observing and enjoying. With that “heroic” action accomplished, the gorillas believed themselves to be Rambos roaming the earth, and they planned to go to the Delano area the next day and carry out a similar attack on the picket line there. Predictably, on the afternoon of the same day, Chavez ordered that if the killers showed up we were not to respond to any attack, instead remaining inactive and allowing the police to intervene and do their job.

But we on the picket line thought differently. I met with the most militant strikers of the picket line and we resolved not to permit the Teamster gorillas to attack us. Using the megaphone, we met with the rest of the strikers in a lightening meeting and we communicated what had been decided. By unanimous opinion, at least no one voiced opposition, it was decided that on the following day, men and women who didn’t bring at least a kitchen knife would be better not to come at all to the picket line. The police, with their constant presence at the picket line, were also listening to what we had said.

So the next day in the morning as the strikers were arriving they subtly showed what weapons they had brought. One very important thing was that all of the women, very discreetly, came up to me and in a low voice said, “Look, what I brought,” showing me that they had actually brought kitchen knives hidden under their clothes. But the men had brought weapons that would be more advantageous. Everything was well planned and ready in case the killers came and tried to start a fight. They were going to get the reception they deserved. But what a shame—the police informed the thugs it would be better that they not come because of what was awaiting them. From that day on, the Teamster killers never came back to any of our lines, and that was only because we defied Chavez’s orders and prepared to do the opposite.

Traditional treason
Meanwhile the militancy of the strikers was increasing both on the picket line and within the clandestine groups that were causing the greatest headache to the bosses. Very clearly the strikers had gotten beyond the pacifist control of Cesar Chavez. That was a big concern for the politicians and for the bosses. Practically speaking the strike had become a general movement throughout the state, from the Imperial Valley on the border, the Coachella Valley, the San Joaquin Valley, the Salinas Valley and the Sacramento Valley.

Only one thing could pull the bosses away from the precipice: resort to the lies of the State, offering very sweet but cheap legislation. That is why the bosses and politicians went to work to formulate the Agricultural Labor Relations Act (ALRA) that they offered as their best alternative for resolving the labor problems of the farm workers. This happened with the cooperation of George Meany, director of the AFL-CIO (and fanatical supporter of imperialist wars) who also cut economic support and ordered Chavez to suspend the strike.

One Thursday, Chavez called us to a meeting at Memorial Park where he informed us of George Meany’ s orders and informed us that for lack of funds the strike was ended. But we should not worry, he told us, because the new law was just about to pass and we could breathe easily. But the ones who were really breathing easily were the ranch owners because the law in practice was pure deception. Among other things, it meant that we were never going to be able to recover the lost contracts over which we were striking in the first place.

The politicians with their “protective” law for the farm workers were lying. Due to their status as a privileged class and defender of the interests of the exploiters (they want to obscure that fact that the capitalist system is based on exploitation), they must lie. Unable to comprehend this reality, and based in part on his own privileged position in the union, Chavez voiced to me in 1965 that he wanted to obtain political force for his Association of Farm Workers and place it at the disposition of political candidates, and in so doing change the conditions of life for the farm workers.
Since that time the union had grown, and he had done just that. By 1973 the union had 125 thousand members, and Chavez placed this force at the disposal of the politicians. And what happened with all the political “personalities” such as Governor Pat Brown, Jr. and all of the religious Christians and Catholics, and particularly the “holy father” whose feet Chavez kissed when he went to Rome? Also what happened to the unconditional support promised by all of the union leaders from the smallest to the biggest to the most “important” such as Walter and Roy Reuther? And what of the much touted support from George Meany and his 15-million-member AFL​-ClO? They contributed only $1,600,000 dollars to the farmworkers’ movement—about a dime per AFL-CIO member and less than $13 per farm worker.
All of these political forces had come together to give us handfuls of crumbs and sometimes just the empty hands. Under Chavez’s misguided leadership we were constantly looking for gold at the end of that rainbow.

Chavez was a religious fanatic and anti-communist to the end, and that was sufficient to keep the farm workers from being able to develop politically, with a more revolutionary theory, let alone a strike-winning strategy. With his kind of leadership the movement could never have even become a true union, able to defend even past hard-won gains for the members, let alone win new ones. And if to all of this we add the conditions required by the politicians and the church in exchange for their support, support that was also nothing but lies, we couldn’t have been worse off.

At the beginning of our struggle, the Catholic church wanted nothing to do with our cause, the politicians were all against us when our march arrived in Sacramento, and the governor attacked us with the absurd claim that Cesar Chavez was a communist. On the other hand, when they discovered that he was no communist, but rather was a loyal servant of the bosses, they came like flies to honey to offer us help. The church came first and then the politicians got in line.

In a big meeting on the corner of Belmont and Garces in Delano, Chavez showed us a check in his hand and said, “This money comes to us from the Catholic church, and they say they will give us much more, so long as we don’t commit any violent acts.”

Robert Kennedy offered us the sun and stars in exchange for our work on his presidential political campaign. Vice-President Humphrey sent a telegram to Chavez (8/1/68) offering his support in the struggle and also asking for union backing of his candidacy. Governor Brown wrote Chavez supporting the cause and offering legislation for the farm workers. And there we were, a bunch of farmworkers swallowing their garbage whole.

Chavez was a man that was born, raised and educated within the capitalist system, with an anti-communist, anti-worker ideology, who never even tried to see further than the blinders placed on the working class by the capitalist system.

I have said that only revolutionary communist theory can bring victory to the workers in their struggles. And if that theory was lacking in Chavez as the main leader, where could he lead the movement except to failure? How correct the revolutionary Russian leader Lenin was when he said, “Without a revolutionary theory there can be no revolutionary movement.” Although in this case it was not even a question of a revolutionary movement but rather a purely reformist union movement. Nevertheless, lacking this revolutionary theory, even the reformist movement could never become a strong consolidated union. One can judge just how true this was by the union’s plummeting from 125 thousand members in 1973 to barely 2,000 members 20 years later.

After Chavez stopped the strike, he told us to fast for three days, so that god would forgive all of the violent acts we had committed during the strike. While, according to Chavez, the law that we were waiting for was going to solve our problems, it was still a work in progress. So the struggle had to continue. If a law even minimally in our favor was to be passed by the legislature, it would only happen through our demonstrations, marches and protests, to pressure the politicians to quickly approve the law. Giant meetings were held each week where we listened to politicians such as Assemblyman Ricardo Ablators and Arturo Tones, who reported that the law was almost in effect.

Meanwhile, Chavez kept repeating like a parrot that the law would give us the opportunities as workers that we had never had in the past. In the past, in order to win, workers have said, “We’ll do it with rifle in hand.” Now, however, we were told to do it with a pen, voting democratically. Union meetings became pure gossip. The picket lines and militancy of the workers in the fields had disappeared. So the politicians were able to take their time approving the law.

That is how 1973 ended, and we entered 1974 with waiting and more waiting. At last the day came when all of the promises that the politicians had been spitting got flushed down the toilet, and out came their law. With that law the union never won any contract again. 
But what else could we hope for from the State? The State is not neutral in the class struggle, and it does not represent the working class. The State, in questions of labor in particular, represents the ruling class of bosses. We live in a capitalist country where the capitalist bosses have the power. The workers can only grab from the bosses a few rights through our organized force—but only temporarily, until the bosses take them away again. But even temporary gains cannot be won by uniting with the ruling class or asking for justice from their representatives in the government.

Things were coming to a crisis in my life
In the first months of 1974 I still had a case pending in the Court of Delano. A supervisor at Mossesion made an accusation against me for I don’t know what damages to their property, and they brought a worker to testify against me named Maria Arevalo. I spoke with this worker before the hearing and she told me that she didn’t know anything and had nothing to testify against me. She never showed up in Court on the day that they told her to be there. But even then, without witnesses or proof against me, the lawyer that I had through the union, undoubtedly under Chavez’s orders, told me that the case was lost and there was nothing further that could be done. He told me that the only thing left was to show up at the final hearing date at the Court.
During the years of struggle since 1965, and increasingly in later years, a number of things were affecting me negatively. For example, religious prejudices were becoming increasingly influential. Chavez, had a public campaign to throw me out of the movement (something that he had been carrying on privately on repeated occasions for many years) by accusing me of being a communist, though I wasn’t—not yet. And his attacks against me were getting stronger all the time.

Throughout this time, it was eating away at me to see my wife increasingly ill with my children still very young. I frequently found my 10 year old daughter, the oldest, crying. And when I wasn’t in the house there were anonymous telephone calls saying that I was going to be killed or put in the hospital for a long time.

As the days passed I had become very frustrated. In spite of the efforts that I was making to find an answer to why all of these things were happening, I could find none.

The religious question was the first obstacle that I encountered. In 1965, I had decided to look for a way to fight the injustice I saw around me. I was a sympathizer with the Jehovah’s Witnesses. I read the Bible, and although I believed in god, I saw him as an obstacle in my desire to fight against exploitation. So this presented itself as a problem to resolve. I thought: if I obey the Bible I will have to stop struggling because that is in contradiction to what the Bible teaches. But if I don’t fight I would be very embarrassed and ashamed to sit there and read the Bible, because milk and bread aren’t going to fall from heaven, and my family will suffer. Of that I was sure and it made me feel unfit to have a family. I had to think it through thoroughly and quickly, and I opted to struggle as it was the most practical and obvious course to take. I would have to wait and see what was going to occur in the future, but my decision had been made. My religious convictions were strong, but reality had begun to give me some doubts about religion.  Doubts only—not facts.

My wife was an actual member of the Jehovah’s Witness sect. Nevertheless, she never reproached me or criticized me for the decision I had taken. She simply said to me, “Look Dear, if you have made this decision, then I think it’s for the best. I know you and I understand why you are doing it.”

With respect to the anti-communism of the leadership of the movement, with Chavez at its head, I asked myself this: If communism is as bad for the workers as they are saying, why in this country that is not communist, are the workers so exploited, discriminated against, victims of racism and put on black lists? Why are they hunted by the Migra, the police and even by the very same union leaders for deportation? Why do the Courts fine us and throw us in jail, simply because we are trying to improve our damned, miserable conditions of life? Where is our place here on earth? Or could it actually be in heaven? But if it is, meanwhile, what are our children supposed to eat while we’re waiting for heaven? 

Meanwhile, time passed and these questions remained without response for me. When I spoke with other workers and we touched on the same themes they felt the same way I did about them.

I had spoken of this with a Catholic priest and with a number of people who belonged to other religions, people who I felt had a lot of knowledge about this subject. But neither the priest nor any of the others could answer my questions. They left me more confused because one said one thing and others another. I was in the same position or worse with respect to my doubts.
PART III

I Meet the Progressive Labor Party

I don’t recall the date but I think that it was in the final months of 1973. We were on one of our political campaigns in Los Angeles in which we were waging a fight to defeat an anti-farm worker proposition (Prop 22) that the ranchers were pushing. We would meet in Lincoln Park in the afternoons, in East Los Angeles, to listen to reports about the day’s activities.

One afternoon, several of us were talking about our experiences of racism in the fields when two men from among the volunteers, whom we did not know, came closer and began to listen to our conversation. They said that they agreed with what we were saying and that they wanted to speak to me about it sometime soon. They politely asked for my name and address, said goodbye and then left.

Several days later, I received in the mail a couple of copies of a newspaper named CHALLENGE in English, and DESAFIO in Spanish. It was a paper, but to tell the truth, I found it a little strange as I was not accustomed to this type of literature. Besides that, there were a lot of terms that I didn’t understand, such as “revisionism,” “Marxism-Leninism,” “Paris Commune,” “Proletarian Cultural Revolution.” Honestly, the only revolution I knew about was the Mexican Revolution, nothing more. 
But since I got the paper weekly, I gave a copy to a co-worker from the struggle, Julio Garcia, who told me he also had some difficulty understanding it. Nevertheless, we discussed it between ourselves and understood it better that way. We found it especially odd that this newspaper had no commercial advertisements. And also that it did not carry out propaganda for any politician. But it attacked bosses for exploiting the workers. It unmasked the falsehood of elections and concretely attacked capitalism and strongly defended the working class, and that made sense to us. But at the same time, it defended socialism and communism, and that got our attention. I “knew” that communism was bad. And my friend was a Vietnam veteran. He had gone to fight communism and defend democracy and freedom, he said. What’s more, Chavez had twice purged the movement of elements who, he said, were communists. So who was right? Chavez the anti-communist, or the communist newspaper? We continued reading this newspaper. After all, it didn’t seem so bad to us.

Somehow, the union leadership found out that I was receiving the newspaper, and they began an active campaign accusing me of being a communist. At all costs, they wanted to be rid of me.

A friend of mine, who was a union organizer, told me that the union leadership held a meeting and had agreed on a plan to drive me out of the union. One day when I wasn’t expecting it, two men—one Latino and one Anglo—came to my house in a van. They greeted me, and although I didn’t fully recognize them, I knew that I had seen them somewhere before. But by their demeanor I felt certain that they weren’t police. Almost immediately they asked me if I didn’t remember them. “We are the ones who were talking to you in Los Angeles.” They gave me their names again, and then I immediately recognized them. I invited them in and we continued talking.

In the course of our conversation, they told me that they had come because they were interested in learning more about the struggle of the farm workers. They said that they were interested because they were members of the Progressive Labor Party (PLP), a communist party that struggled for the interests of the working class. As they were talking, I was silently thinking, “Communists in my house, and friends of the farm workers!” Nevertheless, what they were saying didn’t sound bad to me. In truth though, I was completely on the defensive, and even more so when they told me that communism would be the best for the working class after socialism, but that the real goal is communism. [Socialism is no longer on PLP’s agenda, as it has proved always to lead back to capitalism rather than forward to communism—Ed.]
Since I didn’t know much about communism obviously, I didn’t have valid arguments to contradict what they were saying with such assurance and security. I only managed to tell them that, as far as I was concerned, communism was the worst thing on earth, and that I had heard it on radio programs such as The Voice of the Americas. Whenever the radio interviewed Cuban exiles (gusanos), they said that Fidel Castro was the beast of the Caribbean for being a communist. After a long talk, though we didn’t end up agreeing, at least we created a friendship and agreed to meet again to talk the next week.

The next week they called to tell me that they would arrive at one in the afternoon, but they arrived a half hour late. Since I was not accustomed to unpunctuality, I pointed out to them what a grave error a lack of punctuality is for those who dedicate themselves to fighting for the interests of the working class. They accepted my observations without saying anything, and in the future they were very punctual. We had two or three of these meetings. At one of them I recall telling them, “I think I agree with a lot of what you’re saying, but I don’t want to call myself a communist. I do not want to be a communist!” When they heard this, I think my friends were a little upset, which I could understand. 
But then one of them said to me in a somewhat brusque tone, “Look, we’ve come to visit because we like talking to you, because we consider you to be a communist; only that is something that you do not want to accept. But your ideas are communist ideas. Besides, what you have done and are doing are things that we have only read about. You have not read about it, but are doing it. All that you are doing and saying is written. And do you know who wrote it? It was written by one of the greatest revolutionaries that the world has produced, Lenin. Next time we come, we’re going to bring some of his books so you can see for yourself.” After that, I didn’t say anything. 
On their next visit they brought I don’t know how many citations from Lenin’s works, which were impossible for me to refute. One of them said to me, “Now, if you truthfully still do not want to be a communist, then run and tell those exploiting ranchers that you’re sorry for all of the time you’ve spent fighting them and that from now on you will be nice to them, even though they rob and exploit you and leave your children without food.” How ashamed I felt, and for good reason.

Afterward, I thought that Chavez had been right to call me a communist, just that I hadn’t realized it myself. But if I were a communist, then there were more communists among the strikers that I knew, just that they also hadn’t yet recognized it. I proved that later.

At the end of the discussion I said to them, “Send me five more newspapers.” From that day on, I have considered myself a member of the Progressive Labor Party (PLP). 
I become a communist in name, as well as in practice
That is how I began to do political work for the Party, selling five copies of CHALLENGE/DESAFIO, to my coworkers in the struggle.

Meanwhile, the Party comrades in Los Angeles were busy working hard to organize the May Day march to be celebrated in Washington D.C. (1974), and I would have to go there as well. However, it was going to be impossible for me to go, owing to two things: the court was about to pass sentence on me for the case I mentioned earlier, sending me to jail to purge me of my sin, and the other, my wife, who could no longer even get out of bed. She needed full care, including being fed by hand, and no one else was helping me with her or our children. There was just one lady, a co-worker from the strike, Maria Martinez (my respects to her), who whenever she could, came by to help with my wife and kids.

When I told the comrades in Los Angeles why I would be unable to go to the march, they could not believe that any lawyer could lose such an insignificant case so easily. They offered to get me a lawyer and have the case reviewed by the Court.

When Chavez found out that the PLP had gotten me a lawyer, he called together the union leadership (himself, Dolores Huerta, Ricardo Chavez) to tell me that I was prohibited from acquiring another lawyer—that this was the reason that the union had lawyers. And that anyway my case was lost. When I heard this, I swear that I nearly started swinging—right then and there. It was clear that these bastards were bent on having me go to prison. In truth they had found the idea of me as a prisoner very pleasant, because every time that I had been locked up they did their best to keep me behind bars for as long as possible. They made agreements with lawyers to lose my cases, and this hadn’t been the first instance. They used my jailings also as a pretext to collect large amounts of money for my legal defense, but without using it for me.

What the Party promised was done. A lawyer came down from San Francisco—I can’t remember his name. And he went through the necessary steps to get assigned to me, to get the judge changed, and to have the case go before the Court yet again. This time within 10 minutes more or less, the judge threw the case out, and I walked away free.

My wife dies and I question the idea of god
The day came to make the trip to Washington for the march for May Day, and I was very sorry that I could not attend. Unfortunately, my wife was in her last days. As gently as I could and with the help of our children, we put her in the car and went to the emergency room of the hospital. I stayed with her day and night, only going home occasionally to check on the children at the house.

On May 3, at 10 at night, she became lucid, took my hand and said, “Take good care of our children, especially the youngest, and you, my Dear, take good care.” That was her goodbye. She released my hand slowly and expired. Oh, how that hurt. What pain! What pain! To say goodbye in this way to my wife of all time. I just went out and asked a nurse if she would call a funeral home so that they could take her body. I had no reason to stay there. I went to be with our children, who were alone in the house. On the day of her funeral there was no service, no church, no rosary, nothing. None of it would do her any good. She had left everything good that she had behind: her family, her small children—now without their mother.

I was left with strong questions with respect to my wife. No one knew her better than I did. Nevertheless, she believed strongly in god. Why then had she had to pay such a high price during her short years of life, suffering so many years of illness? What wrong had she done to deserve such a punishment?

I, too, in spite of my questions, still believed in god. And I asked him that if someone had to pay, that it be me for being a bad person, but not her. It wasn’t that I wanted her to live forever. I recognized mortality. But why in that way? And it was this doubt that pushed me to consider that some, or a great deal, of what I had learned about religion was not realistic. Was belief in god realistic, or was it pure illusion?

I also wanted to know why, since we are all eternal and creatures of god, and there are rich and poor, why are there so many poor and not very many rich? Why not many rich and not very many poor? And if the wars which produce so many innocent victims are from god or of man? How could I get out of these doubts? Who could help me find the truth? Politicians or leaders like Chavez? No way! All of them, at least the ones I knew, were like the bosses who simply wanted to live off the labor of the workers, though each one had their own style of doing it. For me this was unjust. So I would have to investigate it, but in a scientific manner, because I wasn’t going to be able to continue living with these doubts.

Communism comes to the farmworkers
After the death of my wife, I continued to meet with the comrades from Los Angeles and selling CHALLENGE/DESAFIO among the members of the union. The number who were buying CHALLENGE/DESAFIO had gone up to fifteen. One night three friends came to my house to tell me what had happened at a union meeting I had been unable to attend. They told me that Chavez had prohibited the reading of the communist newspaper CHALLENGE/DESAFIO, and that whoever was reading it, or even talking to me, would be kicked out of the union as a communist also.

After confirming the truth of what my friends had told me, I sat down to write an Open Letter to Cesar Chavez, which I distributed throughout the area with the help of my children and a neighbor friend of ours. At that time I didn’t have anyone else that was helping me do political work.

In this letter I publicly declared that I was a communist—“and honored to be one”, I said. I explained my reasoning. I then denounced Chavez as anti-communist and anti-worker. I quoted the declaration that he had made in 1968 in the union newspaper El Malcriado, where he declared himself anti-communist. I took the opportunity right there to explain what a communist is, and what an anti-communist is.

Owing to this letter, to which Chavez never responded, a debate began among the farm workers. Many were in favor of my position, because they felt that I was correct and because Chavez never answered the letter. From that date on, Chavez began losing control over the farm workers. This is true even though the liberal bourgeoisie and politicians have done everything possible to convert him into a television star, showing interviews and speeches to keep him visible as the head of the farm workers.

Meanwhile, the sale of CHALLENGE/DESAFIO was going up, with the participation of new members who were joining the Party. This was what I meant when I said that many of the striking farm workers, like me, had been communists without having previously known it. With these workers, we started the first Party grouping in the Delano area.

Soon, I began to participate in the meetings of the Party National Committee [now called the Central Committee, as the Party has  expanded into other parts of the world as one single international Party—Ed.] where I learned the history of the workers’ movements directed by communists, as well as the history of the PLP itself.

I also participated in schools, periodically organized by the Party, where workers from different

labor sectors, students and professionals, gathered to study Dialectical Materialism—the science of revolution (and of everything else). It was during these schools that all of my previously mentioned doubts were answered. But it was from a scientific standpoint, which is what I had wanted.

I learned that strikes are the best weapon in the economic struggle of the workers, but that for our total liberation, a strike is insufficient. To achieve liberation, it is necessary to adopt a more powerful weapon, the weapon of revolutionary struggle against the entire social-political regime. However, strikes are in some way like schools for communism because it is during these activities that workers learn to struggle together for our interests. It was not strange to us then that many of the striking farm workers in Delano joined the PLP.

In the Party schools we learned that poverty is not predestined, but rather imposed by capitalism, by the bosses. It is simply that the ruling class, defending the privileged interests of its class, always denies that its domination is based upon capitalist exploitation, because to admit this reality would be contrary to its interests. This is why they must lie and try to convince the working class that the world is in its current condition because god has created it just so, and it will never change.

From what I have said and much more, I am now sure that only a party such as the Progressive Labor Party is capable of pulling the working class out of the ignorance and idealism which the ruling class has imposed upon us in order to keep us submissive and enslaved.

Very well. After several decades of fiery struggle for the rights of the workers, together with many other comrades, and after many run-ins with union leaders, and joining the Party, I committed to form a Party group in this area, which I carried out together with the cooperation of the other workers who were joining the Party. Meanwhile, we established a distribution network of our paper reaching sales of more or less 500 per week, along with many other activities.

Afterward, with the passing of years, and for questions of health, I had to step down from the responsibilities and turn them over to other capable comrades who continued the work without straying from the line. Later others will come, and then still others, until one day the working class of this area along with those at the national and international levels, led by the PLP, will carry out the working class revolution that we need so badly.

In the world, everything is in constant motion, change and evolution. And if this natural law means the death of the old and the development of the new, then it is evident that it is not possible to have “eternal principals” of private property and the exploitation of the workers, nor the submission of the farm workers to the rich landlords. This means that the capitalism under which we now exist can be replaced by a new and better system, the same way that at one time this system replaced the old regime, which was feudalism.

Workers’ revolution will signify the harsh step necessary that will spell the end to exploitation and the establishment of a new communist society.

[Written in 1993—Ed.]
Part IV
Additional Thoughts—Lessons Learned From Decades of Struggle
Dialectics (an aspect of communist revolutionary science) is the point of view that sees the struggle of opposites as the engine of all movement and development. The world is composed of contradictions among opposites. Without that struggle among the infinity of opposites that exist, both in nature and in society, there can be neither change nor development. In society, in terms of the working class, without the struggle between the working class and the ruling class, as the opposites that they obviously are, there can be no change, nor progress.

In a society divided into classes, such as that in which we live, there exists the ruling class and the working class, and in any of the working class sectors (and there are many) the struggle between these two classes will sooner or later come to the surface. In this type of struggle, depending on the politics that are applied by the leaders, there is either class struggle or class collaboration. Generally, it is the second form which the leaders prefer since it is the path of least resistance, but it is at the same time most certainly the struggle which is most costly to the workers, since it takes a great deal of struggle to make any gains. Even worse, it is easy work for the bosses to take back the gains—leaving the workers in many cases worse off than before. 
This struggle is called “class collaboration” because it all takes place within the bounds of the laws set down by the ruling class through their politicians. According to these laws it is possible to soften the rough relationship between the ruling class and the working class by making good faith agreements and working together and collaborating in harmony. In practice, however, the only “law” that applies is the law of deceit, which is to say almost everything for the bosses and their representatives and almost nothing for the workers. Finally, those who earn the rewards and applause of the bosses and politicians are the leaders. Meanwhile the workers get crumbs. 

One example: As of this writing, Dolores Huerta, Vice-President of the UFWA, just received $100,000 dollars from the liberal bourgeoisie as a prize, supposedly for her sacrifices for the farm workers. One farm worker said, “While Dolores Huerta gets her prize money, we are left in the same state or even worse than before.” 
Under capitalism, the “rights” of labor are simply a collection of norms and rules, supposedly from the “good will” of the ruling class, built upon laws passed by and supposedly guaranteed by the State. We workers have no “rights” until they are granted by the State. And the State, which is not neutral, will never pass laws that are actually in the interests of the workers, even though it occasionally appears so. Much less will it enforce any such laws. When the contradictions sharpen between the workers and the bosses, the ruling class calls upon its laws to declare its property untouchable and to guarantee the right to appropriate the work of others. The majority of official working class leaders, and certainly all those at higher levels in the union hierarchies, are determined to struggle within the bounds of the bosses’ laws (e.g., the Taylor law, Taft Hartley law, Agriculture Labor Relations Board law). But the truth is that, to obtain real victories, the workers are forced to violate these laws—even when that is not the philosophy of the leadership, or in their selfish interests. Nevertheless, every failure provides the workers with accumulated experience in reference to how to find better forms of struggle—even while they are repressed by leaders who at all costs try to keep them under a paternalistic stranglehold politically and ideologically.

A summary of my decades of experience working and struggling 
The following summary of what has been described above in detail perhaps will be of service to anyone who has an interest in organizing workers, given that these are experiences obtained over many years full of failure and success.

In April 1965 I became involved in a labor struggle with an owner of a rose company in McFarland, California owing to the theft of my wages as a rose cutter. This struggle began the path to small and great strikes in the farm workers movement and ended in the establishment of the UFWA in which Cesar Chavez became president, with central offices in Delano, California.

The first stage of struggle was composed of strikes that lasted five years until the union was finally recognized by the ranch owners. It took from May 1965 until June 1970, under much police repression and many arrests, for 33 agricultural companies to recognize the union.

The contracts were signed for three years, but there was no peace in the fields and the struggle continued. The bosses constantly violated the contracts and we had to respond in kind and on several occasions violently—against the will of the leadership, who wanted to deal with all problems through the legal system, under the bosses’ rules. These three years of work under collective bargaining contracts culminated in another somewhat violent strike owing to the bosses’ refusal to renew our contracts. In order to calm down the violent mood of the farm workers, the politicians pressed for a new labor law (setting up the ALRB) that, according to them and the union leadership, would resolve the problems of the workers. The law was a farce and ended up doing more harm to farm workers, since the contract gains were lost and never recovered.

During those eight years of struggle from 1965 to 1973 the farm workers kept up the struggle just for our right to bargain collectively, nothing more, as this was the philosophy of the union leadership. As such, we workers knew no form of struggle that was not legalistic, always respectful of the bosses’ laws.

Nevertheless there was another form of struggle that many of us were not aware of: the revolutionary communist struggle! The true class struggle. But what would happen if these ideas appeared within the movement? Would the workers understand and accept them, given how anti-communist the leadership was?

Well, let’s see: I was the first in the farm worker movement to become a communist and try to put the ideas into practice. It was at the beginning of 1974 when members of the Progressive Labor Party (PLP), a revolutionary communist party from Los Angeles, fulfilling the historic obligation to organize the masses, made contact with me in an attempt to recruit another member to the ranks of the Party—even though it was not easy. In spite of my eight years of struggle in defense of our rights as workers in the fields, I was an anti-communist. And for good reason, given that all the propaganda from the mass media consisted of lies and distortions against communism, and above all against Cuba. Besides, the main union leader, Cesar Chavez, had declared himself an anti-communist in 1968. But through the dogged insistence of the PLP members, and after several visits, I began to understand communist ideas. And I requested that they send me five copies of the newspaper CHALLENGE/DESAFIO, the Party’s paper. With a co-worker who was the first whom I convinced to join the Party, we distributed the papers to other workers. Afterward, I requested that they send me ten more copies which we distributed at union meetings and to other determined co-workers.

Afterward, I asked for even more copies which we easily distributed. When the paper was being circulated and read by the workers, the leader Cesar Chavez raised his voice to the sky and started a strong campaign against me. He prohibited me from circulating the paper at the meetings and also prohibited the members from reading it. Chavez also forbade workers from talking to me. He stated that communists could not belong to the union and that both the paper and I were communist. He thought that under such circumstances I would be left with no alternative than to hide under my bed and tremble.

I won’t deny that I was afraid, since I was practically now thrown out of the union and the consequences were going to be terrible for myself and my family. My closest friends and co​workers in the struggle had abandoned me and those who were buying the paper no longer wanted it. However with the passing of time I realized that the rejection of the workers was only in appearance and that it had more to do with the fear that Cesar Chavez would expel them from the union. But damn! Now that things had been put in motion, there was no going back. As well as I could, I wrote an open letter to Cesar Chavez that I mailed to his office; a letter which my comrades in Los Angeles helped me write in leaflet form, and which along with just my three children and a young woman neighbor we distributed in the entire area. Chavez had publicly accused me in my absence of being a communist and now in the leaflet I accused him of being an anticommunist, and I clarified what it meant to be communist and anticommunist. That letter was followed by another and by many more leaflets, but Chavez never responded to my open letter. I think that his answer was contained in bullets that someone shot at my house during the night.

Progress starts slowly
Although it didn’t seem so, the truth is that there was an ideological struggle being carried out in the area in which thousands of farm workers were participating, and they were anxious to receive and hold onto the leaflets that we distributed. They wanted to learn about this thing that they had not understood before; it was a struggle of opposites in knowledge and ignorance.

One afternoon a worker I didn’t know came to my house. He told me that the reason he had come by was to discuss a leaflet that he had read the night before. He told me that in the union meeting someone had brought a leaflet that was read aloud and passed around the room. When the leaflet got to Cesar Chavez he asked that it be destroyed and that it not be read further. But this worker didn’t destroy his copy and when he got home he read it in detail and came to ask further questions about it. He showed me the leaflet; it was one that we in the Party had distributed. That day, after talking, this worker decided to join the Party. After that, another joined and then another, and it continued that way.

I must say that from the beginning, the leadership of the Party in Los Angeles was always very close to me, giving me political direction, advice and suggestions. All of this helped me to learn Marxist-Leninist revolutionary theory and although I am no expert, I know more now than I did in the past.

So far things were going well. However, there had been some problems and more were coming. Firstly, we had to get appropriate literature, leaflets for example. I didn’t know how to type nor edit a leaflet and much less how to do it with a revolutionary communist political line. My handwriting was very bad. How was I going to manage? I managed because I had to. I bought a manual typewriter, but I didn’t have anyone to teach me, so I just hunted the letters with my index fingers—the other fingers just got in my way, and they still do.

Also, the leaflets had to be written in a particular way. They had to be in a style that would be understandable to a farm worker, for several reasons: the majority of farm workers were men and women who were uneducated. Many could barely read at all. Others had bad eyesight. Others had troubles with some of the words that were used and especially the political terms. An example: on one occasion a woman was telling me of the problems she was having at her job. During the conversation I mentioned the word “bourgeoisie” and she interrupted me and said,
“Oh. I had always thought the bourgeoisie was a place where they made lots of burgers.” So the language of most workers is very simple, given our conditions and the place we occupy in society. It is no coincidence that we do the hardest work in agriculture. 
So who was going to write this type of leaflet? Well it had to be a farm worker, someone who knew everything about the problems of the work and the workers in the fields. I was left with no alternative than to grab the bull by both horns and start writing them myself. This was no easy task, since there are many details that must be attended to in this work, some more and some less important than others. For a time at the beginning the leaflets were made in the following way: the political line had to be expressed simply and clearly. The total number of words had to be minimal to accommodate those who had difficulty reading and the words had to be in big letters to help those who had problems with their eyesight. So what was written had to be very concise. That gave me the idea of including a drawing with the words that would express the same or more than the words themselves; which was of great help to the farm workers in understanding communist ideas.

Another problem that presented itself at the same time was that the leaflets distributed publicly among the people had to be bilingual so that everyone could understand them, and this was very difficult. But coincidentally, at this time the wife of a new member of the Party worked in an office and offered to help us with translation into English. However, she could not read Spanish well, so the translations took a long time. Nevertheless, she had a strong desire to help and didn’t shy away from the responsibility. She was a great help to us.

We also had to figure out how to print the leaflets. It was too expensive to pay to have them printed. As we included them with each copy of the paper and distributed them openly during the week, we couldn’t afford the cost. It is worth mentioning that every copy of the paper contained a local leaflet, and the workers always went first to that leaflet as soon as they bought the paper. If they didn’t find the leaflet, they let us know it. They took to calling it the “Special.” 
Our salvation came when the comrades in San Francisco pulled us away from the precipice. They gave us a mimeograph machine that was hand operated but ran very well. First it was necessary to type an original, then stick it on the roller and put in the ink which was constantly spilling out and constantly being cleaned back up, then roll up your sleeves grab the handle and crank it. By the end of the run you were totally bathed in ink up to your ears. That machine broke down and had to be repaired at a cost of $100, too expensive. One day one of the comrades came by beaming with joy. He brought a mimeograph the same as ours, except it didn’t work, that he had gotten at a yard sale. That spare mimeograph saved many repair bills, since I became a mechanic in operations and repairs, using the old one for replacement parts in the newer one.

From the beginning we had formed a study group to empower ourselves politically. We agreed that the meetings should be led not by the leader but rather by all of the members on a rotating basis because this would help us empower ourselves as leaders. That’s how we did it and it worked well. In short order we formed four study groups, led by members who prepared themselves by leading the first group.

We also held periodic meetings of criticism and self criticism. This helped us established a stronger discipline in the work and avoided lies and gossip among the comrades. If someone said anything bad about a comrade, it was suggested to them that they do it inside the confines of the meeting and not outside. We didn’t really like these meetings much, but we had to have them. A one comrade said, “Even though we don’t much like these meetings, it’s the best way to take out the garbage and get clean inside.” He said he felt very clean after these meetings.

Around the years 1977-1978 the problems, against all odds, were being resolved, but more were coming. Meanwhile we were searching for ways to increase the readership of CHALLENGE/DESAFIO, which had gone up to 300 copies a week, more or less.
On Sundays, we went to the Bakersfield and Tulare flea markets, thirty miles away, where we sold many papers every week. But the day was not far off when the owners of the property prohibited us from selling there. When that avenue closed off we decided to go door to door in the neighborhoods. We chose the neighborhood and split off in twos, going street by street to offer CHALLENGE/DESAFIO at each door. This gave us a chance to see friends and co-workers and other people we knew, although we also came upon enemies of the workers, such as foremen, supervisors, cops and contractors. They didn’t want the paper, but we learned where they lived so that we could avoid them in the future. 
The plan was to give a leaflet to everyone, even those who didn’t buy a paper. If nobody answered a door, we left a leaflet hanging there. We suggested to those who did buy the paper that they read it carefully and that we would return the next week, and if they were interested make arrangements for the paper to come weekly. The result of this was that, for example, on a Sunday we sold 40 CHALLENGE/DESAFIOs, and the next week only 30 wanted it again, and a week later only 25 decided to buy it weekly. Then there were 25 more CHALLENGE/DESAFIO readers. If one of these readers wasn’t home on a given day, we left the paper, and they paid the following week. This resulted in a larger CHALLENGE/DESAFIO readership. Taking the paper to people on a weekly basis brought many good things: we made close socio-political relationships that strengthened our base; the sale of CHALLENGE/DESAFIO was secured, and we sent the money we collected to the main Party office each week, to help with the next issue.

I wanted to extend the sale of the paper further north than the McFarland-Delano area. I traveled up to Fresno to visit a good friend and comrade in struggle whom I had known during the most difficult periods of establishing the union in the fields. After a few hours talking about the politics of the Party and the sale of CHALLENGE/DESAFIO, I remember his exact words to me were, “Look, I don’t know much at all about communism, but if you say that this paper is good then I believe you. Send me 25 copies.” That friend sold used goods on a given day of the week at a flea market and had many friends there to whom he sold CHALLENGE/DESAFIO and distributed leaflets. Soon he joined the Party. Sadly he died a few years ago. But everything we do counts. Owing to that friend and member of the Party, another couple from the town of Cutler joined the Party, and they established a distribution of 25 CHALLENGE/DESAFIOs more or less. We later made contact with another worker in Visalia who also joined the Party and developed a base that brought about other members. Things were falling into place, and we established a sale of 10 CHALLENGE/DESAFIOs in the town of Selma and another 50 in Sanger, more in Wasco, and so on.

With respect to the sale of CHALLENGE/DESAFIO in the area of McFarland, Delano and Wasco, each week we sent a report to New York detailing the quantity of CHALLENGE/DESAFIOs sold, which fluctuated between 475 and 500 or more weekly. If we didn’t sell more it was because we were at the very top end of our capacity to do so. The report went like this: quantity of papers sold, the date and number of the same, name of the distributors and how many were sold by each one and the exact amount of money raised. I recall that the report that I made on the sale of CHALLENGE/DESAFIO in the year 1982 included papers sold from January 13 to December 8, totaling 20,015 copies in all. The money from the sales of the paper in Fresno and Sanger was sent directly to the New York office.

I helped periodically at the meetings of the Central Committee of the Party where I gave a report of the political work that was being carried out in the countryside. At these meetings I took note of the most important points that were being discussed. Upon returning I gave a report to the comrades about what had occurred at the meeting so that all were well informed.

One problem that had been coming to the fore was that we had no young people active in the Party, only older adults. It was in this time that the Central Committee had the idea to initiate the construction of the International Committee Against Racism (InCAR) as a support organization for the Party, with the political line of strong reforms and relentless war on all aspects of racism—at work, in the schools, in the communities. It was not a communist organization, but it was a strong support to the Party, and it struggled alongside it in all its activities. From InCAR, all who wanted to were able to join the Party.

We began to talk with the youth through our own children, in the schools. In the beginning, as is natural, it was a battle. But shortly we had young men and women high school students as members of InCAR, actively participating with the membership of the Party, and with the consent of their parents, obviously, since they were minors.

When InCAR began to grow, we found ourselves with a problem of transportation. The youth of 1nCAR liked to go along with the Party members in the Sunday brigades to the towns of the area to sell CHALLENGE/DESAFIO and leaflet, so we needed transportation. A good friend of ours and of the Party’s got us out of the problem. He offered to sell us an old bus in good condition for $2000, on credit at $50 a month. We had four groups of members so we assigned each group to raise $50 every month, on a rotating basis. Once half the debt had been paid, our friend told us that it was sufficient and he forgave the other half. On weekends we filled that bus with InCAR and Party activists and made the rounds of the workers’ neighborhoods selling CHALLENGE/DESAFIO and distributing leaflets. That old bus gave us good service and we named it The Proletariat, because it worked only for food.

In Delano we held big marches on International Workers Day (May 1and other days as well, with the participation of people from the Party in San Francisco, Los Angeles and other places.

In 1984, and for four consecutive years afterward large summer projects were carried out during the months of July and August, with the participation of people from the Party and InCAR, men and women, young and old, Anglo and black and Latin, who came from different parts of the country and from other countries, for a total of 80 participants each summer, more or less. Other people from the area also participated.

Among the many activities that we carried out was the organization of several caravans of cars that went through the streets. The cars moved slowly with just one driver and posters on the doors with InCAR and Party flags. Meanwhile on the streets there were numbers of people selling CHALLENGE/DESAFIO, distributing leaflets and collecting donations. One truck had sound so that we could explain the motivation of the caravan, that is to say, the struggle over low wages, lack of jobs, against the police, against racism, against the pesticide pollution of the water and for communist revolution as the solution to our problems.

In all of these activities, the Party’s and InCAR’s line were put forward. The political line of the Party, as the solution to the exploitation of capitalism, and that of InCAR, to join all nationalities in the struggle against racism, were front and center. In practice, where both organizations participated together there was an ideological struggle by the Party with other InCAR members about the importance of communist revolution. The result was a growth of members in the Party. Once members of InCAR understood that to eradicate racism it was necessary first to crush capitalism with communism (since capitalism inevitably produces racism) they joined the Party. In this way, in each summer project, numbers of youth, members of InCAR, joined the Party. This is how InCAR was a school for communism.

Police terrorism can be fought
The police constantly commit abuses everywhere, which amounts to terrorism against the working class. McFarland was no exception. On one occasion with the participation of more or less 200 workers, men and women, we massed at the police headquarters in search of a sergeant that the workers wanted to make pay for his abuses, but we did not find him. Later we found out that he had left a note with a local newspaper saying that he was fleeing because he feared for his life. We never heard from that dog again. The struggle continued and within several days all of the police, including the chief, had resigned en masse. We still do not have any of these terrorists in our city. The bosses attempted to replace them once, but the people have not permitted it. But the bosses will surely try again.

These actions and others demonstrated that the workers had lost their fear of Cesar Chavez and were now capable of following communist leadership. Meanwhile Chavez’s leadership was becoming daily less powerful.

The immigration cops (MIGRA) are yet another plague upon undocumented workers. In McFarland they were always kicking in the doors of houses in the middle of the night looking for undocumented immigrants. During one summer project we alerted people of McFarland that together we would watch for INS agents, wait for them to show up and then run them out of town in a shower of stones. We never discovered why, but coincidentally the immigration cops never showed up there again. At the bridge that crosses Highway 99 someone painted in large, very visible letters, “Death to La MIGRA.” McFarland became a sanctuary for undocumented immigrants who heard that immigration would not enter.

Problems develop
Around the end of the eighties, my health began to falter to the point that I decided to step down from leadership in the Party and InCAR after having consulted with other Party leaders. In a membership meeting I announced my decision and recommended a comrade as my replacement. The new leader made a few changes in the style of leadership which didn’t seem to alter things much, and the work continued without any interruption. However, at the beginning of the nineties, some new leaders were named, both at the head of the Party as well as in other areas, including McFarland, which to my way of thinking did have a big impact on the political work of the area and greatly aggravated heretofore small problems that existed.

It is worth mentioning that all political work, no matter how simple, in the construction of the Party is collective. As such, at the Party level it can also be a negative force. Everything that each member, friend, or sympathizer of the Party does, counts, and particularly so at the level of the leadership. Some of the changes that were made in the political work at this time in other areas, combined with the changes occurring locally, began to affect the work locally, both in the political line as well as in the style of work. 
It started when suddenly and without any notice the leader of our area left the leadership. This event was reflected in the attitude of other comrades who had some minor questions that merited attention. Under these circumstances the leadership that the comrade abandoned was placed in less competent hands, and a reduction of quality of the work was inevitable. The other thing that ultimately ruined the situation was the liquidation of InCAR by agreement of the Central Committee in a general meeting, as I understand it. To tell the truth, in our area we didn’t know when nor why this happened. The leadership was informed, but the rest of us were never told at that time, though we were told later. 
Once InCAR was liquidated all of its membership was automatically cancelled too, even though it was composed entirely of youth with a great potential to join the Party. All of this really affected the spirit of the rest of the membership in the Party to the degree that, although it is hard to say, we will have to start over again. Perhaps in other areas the liquidation of InCAR didn’t have such an effect, but here it did. Who was responsible for this? All of us who knew what was happening and didn’t take appropriate measures to avoid it are responsible. It was a collectively destructive event because, I’ll say again, everything we do counts.

Its anyone’s guess how many people contributed to the failure. What I believe is undeniable is that the leadership of the Central Committee of the Party was the most responsible, given that it is the body that directs, supervises and should be up to date on the inner workings of the Party. It did not take responsibility for supervising the work; it did not verify the truth of the reports that it received with respect to the work in the fields; it did not bring its weight to bear to resolve the internal contradictions that existed, due to negligence or due to certain political contradictions within the Central Committee leadership itself. Did the Central Committee know what was happening in this area? Yes, it did.

It is true that errors cannot be avoided, but we must be on our guard to commit the fewest possible and do our best as we clear the way. That is to say that through practice, theory improves and vice versa. Constant communication from the main leadership of the Party to the smallest study group, wherever it may be, is like the lifeblood of the body.

If in the trajectory of the Party and its small clubs there is someone responsible for transmitting information, reports, news, etc. to the rest of the membership but is negligent in this duty, that person becomes a bottleneck that inevitably obstructs the advance of the political work. And that is precisely what was happening in our area for a long time.

I do not say this last part to pick a fight. On the contrary, I say it so that we pay better attention to what we’re doing so that the right hand doesn’t destroy what the left hand is building. We have to push forward, forward, forward.

Some constructive criticisms
A worker, member of the Party, through his or her experiences and study of Marxist-Leninist communist theory, will have understood the reality and reasons behind social inequity. Obviously that person will also understand idealism and dialectical materialism. And depending upon that worker’s level of understanding, he or she will want to talk to his/her co-workers about communist ideas and convince them to join the Party.

One assumes that if this member of the Party wants to convince others as he/she speaks about communist ideas, he/she must know what his/her attitude must be and how he/she should behave as a worker who understands what it means to be a communist. If this member has understood sufficiently what must be done, he/she must take an attitude that inspires confidence in what he/she says. During a conversation with a friend, co-worker or whomever, he/she should not play the fool, should not call someone a derogatory nickname, should be sincere and honest, must not lie, and never invent answers if he/she does not know the truth. 
An example: A particular Party member enjoyed coarse joking with people he knew, and he gave nicknames to everyone. This behavior was reflected in his political work, because he was not taken seriously.

Self-discipline is an absolute requirement. If this discipline is lacking, one should know from the start that she/he will never convince anyone to join the Party. This discipline includes punctuality, study, always being ready to fulfill commitments that have been made as quickly as possible. 
An example: A leaflet was to be distributed, but it had to be translated into English. The comrade who said he would do it was taking much too long. He was reminded of his commitment, and he promised to get it done soon. But he didn’t do it. He was reminded again, but this time he became angry and refused to help. The work of the Party in this case did not happen because of the lack of discipline, irresponsibility and lack of will of that comrade.

Punctuality also should be considered absolute in matters of the Party. No one will believe in a person who is habitually late, insecure, or who lies. Be it to hand out or sell papers, make visits, help out in marches, distribute leaflets or assist in meetings.

We must always struggle in the race against the clock. We cannot let it win, because if it wins we will surely arrive late and realize too late what we need, or never realize it at all. An example:

It happened that we planned a study meeting in which two people were going to participate for the first time. The comrade who was going to lead the meeting went first to visit a few friends and invite them to the meeting, but he didn’t follow up. So the meeting didn’t take place. Afterward, the comrade cynically stated that when he got to the worker’s house they were drinking beer, and he also began to drink, had too much and forgot about the meeting.

Another time, we had to go to Oakland for an InCAR convention, five and a half hours away, so we had to leave at a certain time to arrive on time for the meetings. But some people were 45 minutes late. En route we had to stop for gas. When the bus stopped everyone got off to go to the bathrooms and the lines were very long. It took so long that some of the young girls who went into the bathroom first when they got off the bus were back in line to go again. One can imagine how long it took to get everyone back on the bus and get on the road again. We had been going perhaps two more hours when one of the comrades told me that he had to go to the bathroom and that we should stop the bus for a moment. I stopped and told him to pee beside the bus and get right back in because we were running late. Then he told me that he had to do the full business! I couldn’t believe it. Hurry up, I told him, pointing out some brush a little way away. I’ve never seen anyone go so fast. He was back almost as fast as he left. In the end, when we finally arrived to the meetings everyone was anxious and somewhat upset with us; we had arrived an hour late. Our bus, The Proletariat, got there spewing vapor and smoke everywhere and looked like an old train from the 1800s. But that never happened again.

Another example was of a comrade with many years in the Party and a great deal of responsibility in political work, who was to carry out an important political task on a certain day. He was called to ensure that he had carried out his work. He replied that he had not fulfilled his task, because he had had to go to church to fulfill an important religious commitment. The work was a component of a well planned project that was to advance the development of the Party—a project that failed owing to the arrogant and irresponsible attitude of the person who was at the head of the work.

The study of communist theory is another necessary requirement. If one does not study it will be difficult to advance in knowledge, convince others to join the Party, and lead a study group. An example: there was a member who did not like to attend study meetings and who was annoyed because the revolution was taking so long to arrive. He had been in the war in Korea and was anxious to start shooting, he said. One day he said, very seriously, that he would no longer participate in meetings or marches, but that we should let him know as soon as we had the weapons together for revolution, because he wanted to be in on the fighting.

Sometimes you want to talk with co-workers about communism, but if you are not preparing yourself even minimally you will have difficulties when workers ask you questions, and you won’t be able to answer them. The workers, seeing your lack of preparation, will make fun of you. An example concerning the same Party member mentioned above who had been in the war in Korea and who didn’t like to participate in study meetings: This member liked to talk about communism with his co-workers in the fields but when he couldn’t answer their questions they laughed at him and made him angry. This was almost a daily occurrence, one day he came to my house and asked me if I had a pistol that I could lend him, because he wasn’t going to take any more being made fun of by those bastards, he said. Since I didn’t give him a pistol, he bought one and hung it under his arm like a gangster. One day at work when the workers began to provoke him he began to shout, “Long live communism, you bastards,” and “Death to the bosses.” He pulled out his pistol and shot into the air. Seeing this, the workers were stunned and did not bother him anymore, I am told. Nevertheless, it is a much better course to study than to carry a pistol to protect ourselves from our ignorance. It is also a much better course not to blame our co-workers for our ignorance. Ignorance is easily fixed when it is recognized.
Whenever anyone joins the Party we are all pleased and welcome that comrade. Obviously this worker will want to improve politically and learn everything possible about communism. And we have the duty to teach her/him all we know. Among the many things she/he will learn from us are: discipline in political work, punctuality and comradely behavior. But are we, who have years in the Party, prepared to teach these things to this new member? If so, very well, but if not, the new member will learn nothing and will develop the same bad habits, lacking worthwhile communist principles.

Excess of work
If there is anyone who can efficiently carry out all the political work assigned to her/him, even though it is overwhelming, magnificent. My respects. But an excess of work, whatever form it takes, is never fully done or is done badly, and the results are obvious, both in the work and physically. I believe it is better to commit oneself to what can be done, and let that be done well, and punctually.

Criticism and self criticism is another thing that we cannot leave out. It is a necessary ingredient for the good functioning and develoopment of the Party. It is part of the basic structure of a solid communist organization and of whomever will be initiated as a revolutionary.

Regarding strikes and how they can be schools for communism
Here are some considerations regarding the significance of workers’ strikes: why they happen, how they develop and the attitude of workers faced with these strikes.

Strikes occur and grow where there are hundreds and thousands of workers laboring together, whether in a factory, a mine or in agricultural fields. But why do strikes occur in these places? It is very simple. It is because these are the places where the exploitation of the workers by the capitalists is most openly and strongly expressed. This proves that capitalist exploitation necessarily brings workers into struggle against the bosses, and that this struggle leads necessarily to the strike.

A society, organized in such a way that the earth, factories, mines, and instruments of production belong to a small number of landlords and capitalists, is called capitalism. Meanwhile, the great majority of people own no property and must count on their labor power as the only thing they have to sell to the bosses in order to continue their subsistence. The bosses in turn only pay the worker a small wage and force her or him to produce the maximum,  so that they can rack up enormous profits which the bosses then pocket. So, under capitalism, the working class does not work for itself, but rather for the bosses. And it must be understood that the bosses always look for a way to lower wages, since the lower the wages paid to the worker, the more profit goes into the pockets of the boss. The workers also always try to obtain the best wage possible in order to be able to give food and clothing to their families and not end up living in abject misery. From this is born the constant struggle between the workers and the bosses over wages: the boss has the right to hire the worker who will accept the lowest wage for his labor. The worker rents himself to the boss that will take him and always looks for the one that pays the highest rent for his labor. The worker, be it in the city or the countryside, is always struggling to find a better wage.

But can a lone worker maintain this struggle with success? No! There are always more and more people looking for work. Factory owners and landlords constantly introduce new technology that displaces more workers. In the cities there is a ceaseless growth in the number of unemployed and in the countryside the people are reduced to misery. The bosses take advantage of the existence of the unemployed and hungry workers to reduce wages and increase restrictions on the workers. If a worker does not accept a wage that is low, the boss says, “Go find another job. There are lots of hungry people that will be glad to work for what I am offering you and they will even accept less than that.”
When ruin falls down upon the workers, even while the bosses are making greater and greater profits, the workers become helpless. The capitalist has the right to crush the worker completely, to condemn her/him to death at work, and not just her/him but wives as well, by tying them to the wheels of exploitation, condemning them all to a premature old age and death. The boss requires the worker to give up her/his free will. He/she imposes a rigorous discipline on the worker, obliging her/him to get up early to go to work. The boss has the luxury of punishing her/him or firing her/him from the job for the smallest violation of the rules that the boss her-/himself has established. Thus the worker becomes part of an enormous mechanized machine; she/he must be submissive, enslaved and automated like a machine.

To keep from being reduced to such a humiliating state, the workers initiate a struggle. Seeing that each of them alone is absolutely impotent and living under a death sentence in capitalism, they begin to organize themselves against the bosses and begin strikes. At the beginning it frequently happens that the workers do not understand well the significance of their rebellion and the only thing they desire is to show the bosses their fury and demonstrate their unleashed strength, searching for an exit from their desperate circumstances.

Many times the anger of the workers begins with isolated disturbances, with riots, as the police and bosses call them. These disturbances sometimes lead to more or less pacific strikes, but at other times they become insurrectional struggles involving the entire working class.

What does a strike mean in the class struggle? Let’s look: If the wages of a worker are determined through an agreement between the worker and the boss on an individual basis, then the boss can treat the worker as a totally impotent being, helpless to demand or achieve a better wage. It is clear then that workers need to organize themselves and declare themselves on strike in order to keep the bosses from lowering their wages or in order to obtain a wage increase. In all capitalist countries, workers feel impotent when they struggle individually. They can only resist attacks by the bosses if they struggle collectively through strikes.

So, strikes originate from the very nature of capitalist society in which the workers are in constant struggle with the bosses due to their exploitation. These struggles are the beginning of a workers struggle that goes past what we are accustomed to, a struggle against the very structure of capitalist society.

When workers struggle individually against powerful capitalists this means in effect that they are resigning themselves to more slavery. But when these dispossessed workers join together and go on strike, things change because the bosses now have no workers to produce wealth for them. When workers confront the bosses individually they end up being further enslaved, working for crumbs, submissive and silent. However when the workers make joint demands and refuse to submit to those that hold the bags of money, then they cease being humble slaves and become men and women who demand that their work not just enrich a handful of bosses but that it also allow them to live a dignified life.

Strikes provoke such terror in the bosses because they are a threat to a boss’s total power over workers. “All wheels will cease their movement, if that is what your strong arm demands,” says a German workers’ song. In effect, the factories, mines, landlords, plantations, railroads, are the wheels of an enormous mechanism. This mechanism provides various products, transforming them to usable form, and distributing them where they need to go to be sold. The entire mechanism is put in motion by the workers, who plow the land, mine the minerals, produce the merchandise in the factories, build the houses, shops and railroads. The entire mechanism is threatened with paralysis if a strike breaks out. Every strike suggests to the capitalists that they are not the true owners of everything, but rather the workers are, because the workers are the ones who produce everything. Each strike makes the workers see that their desperate situation is not eternal, that they are not alone and they can get out of it.

In normal, peaceful times, the worker usually carries her/his load silently and does not resist the boss, barely reflecting on her/his own situation. But during a strike the workers yell their demands at the top of their lungs and point out to the boss all the crimes of which they, the workers, have been victims. They proclaim their rights and do not think of themselves as individuals, but as allies of their co-workers who are on strike with them and are engaged in the same struggle without fearing the cost.

During a strike, many workers pay a high price, hunger in the family and incarcerations. But in spite of the hardships, the striking workers feel contempt for all those who refuse to take part, who abandon their co-workers and enter into pacts with the bosses, returning to work as scabs (strikebreakers). In spite of the hardships of the strike, the workers from other areas of work immediately feel an enthusiasm to see, or know, that other workers have begun a struggle.

“Men (and women) who resist hardships to break the opposition of a member of the ruling class, will also know how to break the entire ruling class,” said Engels, a great teacher of Socialism, referring to workers’ strikes. However, Engels and his comrade Marx stressed that it also takes a knowledge of working class history and an understanding that the capitalists constitute a ruling class, for the workers to recognize the necessity of ending the capitalists’ power over us with armed revolution.
Frequently in the past it has been sufficient for a strike to break out in one workplace, to bring about a series of strikes in other places. That is the great moral influence of strikes. That is how contagious it is for other workers to see their comrades, even if only temporarily, cease being submissive slaves. We become instead strong men and women, standing proudly on two feet with our heads held high. What’s more, when communists are involved in leading or supporting them, all strikes can make workers more curious about communism. It is often the case that, before a strike, workers know nothing about communism and do not think about it at all. But during and after a strike where communists are involved, workers enthusiastically want to know more about this thing called communism.

A strike helps us to learn about the sources and limitations of the bosses’ power, as well as of our own power. It can teach us to see not just our own boss as our enemy, but rather all bosses as the enemy. It can teach us to think not just of our co-workers, but of the entire working class as our allies in the struggle against the bosses.

The bosses do everything they can to trick and hypnotize us. They make themselves out to be generous benefactors and attempt to cover up their exploitation with crumbs and false promises. But when striking workers achieve a consciousness about what the bosses are, we can smash the illusion and help the rest of our co-workers see that these “benefactors” are shameless liars.

A strike can open our eyes not just with respect to the capitalists but also to the

Government and its laws. Just as the bosses attempt to make themselves out to be generous and

good, politicians and their helpers make an effort to convince the working class that the

Government is working in our best interests and that it is doing all it can to promote (the illusion of) equality between the workers and the bosses. Since workers are generally not familiar with the intricacies of the law and do not often rub elbows with politicians, we frequently fall into the trap of believing what we are told about the Government’s being on our side. But once a strike breaks out, the bosses immediately come out accompanied by the police, and then we realize that we have been violating some bosses’ law of which we may have been unaware. We also discover that the law permits the bosses to get together to conspire to reduce wages, rob and repress us. At the same time we are declared lawbreakers when we enter into agreements to struggle together against the bosses.

The workers realize clearly then that the Government is our sworn enemy, and that it defends the bosses and ties our hands and feet. The workers begin to realize that the laws are written for the exclusive benefit of the rich and gag the mouths of the workers, so that we cannot even express our demands. Generally during strikes, workers are prohibited from using bullhorns or any sound equipment that would allow us to easily inform others as to the motivations behind the strike. The Government knows very well that a vigorous strike is just the nose of the monster (as the rich say) of a workers’ revolution. Each strike grows and can develop in us the knowledge that the Government is our enemy and that as a class we must prepare ourselves to struggle against it for what rightly belongs to us.

Thus strikes show us how to join together. Strikes help us see that only together are we able to carry out a struggle against the bosses. Strikes show us how to think of the struggle of the entire working class against the ruling class and its Government.

Thus far we have considered what a strike means for the working class. We’ve seen that a strike is a school that teaches us how to struggle together, where we learn where the source of power resides for the bosses and where our own power resides, where we prepare and educate ourselves for the struggles yet to come.

However, as in all things, strikes also have their limits. This is to say, economically a strike is a strong weapon, but for the total liberation of the working class, strikes are not enough. For complete liberation from exploitation, it is necessary to utilize other higher levels of struggle that are more effective. We must take into account also that economic difficulties of overproduction often cause the bosses to provoke work stoppages because sometimes it is to their benefit to stop production temporarily. So we must analyze other methods of struggle as well, which will be discussed further on.

At certain times in the past, workers have extracted with relative ease concessions from the bosses by means of a strike. Owing to this, the workers began to exaggerate the importance of strikes in the economic struggle. They began to forget that strikes, which are generally limited to economic demands only, in the best of cases only win somewhat better concessions, such as better wages. That is to say a successful strike obtains a better price in exchange for the labor power of the worker. That is fine, but when there is little demand for the merchandise being produced in times of capitalist crisis, opportunist union leaders can do nothing but say to the workers, “The bosses do not need workers. Things are bad and there is nothing that can be done. We’ll just have to wait until things get better. We can’t strike now.” 
To modify the conditions of work in any permanent sense means resorting to a weapon much more powerful than a strike. And that weapon is revolutionary struggle against the entire social and political regime. And that is a weapon that union leaders, being in favor of capitalism, don’t want to hear anything about.

The working class does not just need economic struggle to obtain wage increases. It must also fight for something much more important—political power. Naturally, that power will be the most difficult to win because the bosses are not going to voluntarily surrender the power they now have which gives them the freedom to repress, exploit, incarcerate and assassinate workers—a power that has been seized by them. But that is the power that the working class needs in order to end our victimization by the capitalists and to liberate ourselves from them once and for all. As such, it is necessary to enter into revolutionary struggle to obtain it.

Nevertheless a general strike, if it is taken advantage of, can serve as a trampoline to jump to revolutionary struggle as the only possible weapon in the struggle for political power, above all in times when the working class around the world is the victim of a world-wide economic crisis of the capitalists.

How will we be able to use a general strike to pass into revolutionary struggle? We’ll talk about that next. But first we will see what motives and reasons we have to think about it.

The capitalist economic crisis brings repression to the entire working class and demonstrates to workers that they should not just struggle against one boss but against all of them at the same time. They all form a single exploiting class that is the source of the bad conditions under which the working class lives day to day.

The crisis of capitalism, which is no more than the fatal fruit of the very nature of capitalism, is inevitable. Owing to the unchecked greed and exploitation visited on the working class, the bosses have amassed an excess of production that they are unable to sell overseas. The competition with other countries has progressed and battered them badly in the marketplace and as a consequence, the bosses, in the U.S. in particular, are unemploying an enormous quantity of workers who are as a result bearing the brunt of the current crisis. The bosses, unable to sell their merchandise and not wanting to lose their profits, lower wages and fire workers in great quantities. This explains why there are less jobs and lower wages, and why the cost of living is higher.

Currently, and for the foreseeable future, the capitalists are going through an enormous crisis, to the extent that they are fighting one war after another throughout the world in a desperate attempt to keep afloat in vicious competition with other great powers who also want to control the world.

Currently there is no worker who is not experiencing the rigors of the crisis caused by capitalist greed for profits stolen from another. In times of capitalist economic crisis, the working class suffers the consequences because the bosses hang the entire weight of the crisis on the workers even when it is the same bosses who have provoked the crisis. There are millions of workers in the streets who have been left without work and suffering everything. When workers are left without jobs, we still have to pay, like it or not, the gas, light, water, rent, because those companies are not concerned with workers’ problems. A worker must pay; otherwise the companies will cut off our services or throw us out into the street. Awhile ago an unemployed woman was assassinated by the police and a gas company employee in Los Angeles because she was protesting while the employee cut her service. Every family feels constantly threatened to a greater or lesser degree by the specter of unemployment and the consequences that it would bring.

Many workers would like to support or participate in a strike but do not because they cannot face the threat of losing gas, lights, water, if they do not pay the bosses on time. These companies collaborate with the other bosses by pushing utility workers to betray their class brothers and sisters on strike. They are then held in contempt by strikers for becoming scabs (strikebreakers) when they cut off service. And if that weren’t enough, workers constantly face the threat that the capitalists will take their children off to participate in imperialist wars during which they may be killed in defense of wealth that they do not possess.

These are the capitalist crises, with all of the ensuing consequences, that can, with the participation of communists, convince the working class that their enemy is not just one boss but the entire ruling class—the whole capitalist system. Workers then come to realize that we must fight against the entire system since, as we have seen, there is no lack of reasons to smash it.

The role of a general strike

Now, as all workers are affected by the crisis of capitalism, the most appropriate thing to do would be to declare a general strike. But this would be a strike different than any other that has yet been seen—the most extensive possible, a nationwide strike. To ensure that this strike would be different it would have to be led by communist workers, members of the PLP, and not by pacifist union leaders who are lapdogs of the ruling class, whether through fear, corruption or conviction. Those false leaders have a commitment in one way or another to the ruling class to keep us quiet and submissive in exchange for rich rewards.

When we say general strike we are referring to a strike against everything, against all of the bosses, against the gas, light, water, and car companies; against banks, transport companies, landlords. Against absolutely everything. If the strike is against everything it signifies that not just certain sectors of workers should go on strike but rather the entire working class in general, since all workers are victims of capitalist exploitation.

A general strike also signifies a strike against payments, which is to say, no payment for anything so long as the political and economic conditions do not change in favor of the entire working class.

A strike like this with its political revolutionary character will make the contradictions between the workers and the bosses sharpen and will produce at the same time the right conditions to jump to revolutionary struggle, something that could end in the winning of political power by the working class. Political power in the hands of the working class will mean: no more exploiters, no more capitalists and the total disappearance of the capitalist system and its government. It will be taken over by a communist government.

Why do we say that a strike like this would sharpen the contradictions between the workers and the bosses? With the breakout of this strike, large and militant political demonstrations of the working masses will surge larger and larger in the streets. They will mass in front of the bosses’ buildings, and that will be sufficient motivation for the bosses to act by ordering their police to attack the workers. At this stage, the working masses will be in no mood to be intimidated, and it will be the cops who will be the first ones to disappear from the face of the map, either because they will have been killed by the workers or because some may have abandoned their bosses. Now the strike will have passed beyond being just a strike because the workers will be deciding in favor of armed revolutionary struggle, especially once some workers have been assassinated. That will be like throwing gasoline on a fire. The workers, men and women, will willingly face death because we will know that the struggle means the future for ourselves and our children. The Government will attempt to derail the insurrection using the National Guard and the Army but large sections of those components of the armed forces, because they are children of the working class, will surely join the struggle on the side of their own class. Workers who have children in the Army, and communists in general, will have to do everything possible to convince them to take action when the time comes, to turn the guns around against the Government and the bosses.

For a general strike to break out and become a revolutionary struggle for the capture of political power, it will be necessary for communists to do intense work with the workers over many, many years. That work consists in spreading the word among the workers. Every worker should communicate the ideas about a general strike with her/his co-workers. That campaign should take place among the workers on the ranches of the landlords, in the factories of the capitalists, in the mines, in the hospitals, in schools with teachers and students, in the neighborhoods. All of these workers, all of these people, should remain in constant contact with the PLP through its members and organizers in order to receive information and orientation with respect to it. All of the most politically conscious workers should join the PLP to increase the leadership and intensify the work of the organization, until the Party becomes a Party of millions.

Every day more workers are convinced of the importance of a struggle at a higher level than at any other time. So all workers should participate now in the diffusion of the plan for a general strike with a view toward converting it into a revolutionary struggle for the winning of the political power that the working class urgently needs. We can no longer afford to fool ourselves with the illusions given us by corrupt union leaders or politicians who support the exploitative, rotten capitalist system.

Karl Marx said that in political struggle, men and women are betrayed by others or by themselves, until we learn whose interests lie behind the moral, political and religious dictates under which we live. The eternal partisans of reforms and incremental advances, who resist higher levels of struggle, will always be fools for the bosses and their agents, until they understand that the entire system is sustained by the force of the class in power. There is only one way to overthrow the ruling class: be part of the working class, educate and organize for struggle with those who will be the strength of a revolutionary force capable of sweeping out the old and creating the new: a communist society.

